
ADA Notice:  For special accommodations for this event, please contact the Planning & 
Development Department at 785-368-3728 at least three working days in advance. 

THE TOPEKA LANDMARKS COMMISSION MEETING 
Meeting to be held via video conference 

A G E N D A  
Thursday, January 14, 2021 

5:30 PM 

I. Roll Call 

II. Approval of Minutes – October 8, 2020

III. Election of 2021 Landmarks Commission Officers
1. Chair
2. Vice Chair

IV. Announcement of Potential Conflicts

I. CLGR20‐25 by Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth Health System, Inc., seeking State
Preservation Law Review under K.S.A. 75‐2724 for the proposed demolition of the
Menninger Tower building, located at 5800 SW 6th Avenue. The building is listed on the
Register of Historic Kansas Places and the National Register of Historic Places.

II. Discussion and Comment on Pending National Register Nomination for Topeka’s
20th Century Mid‐Century Modern Multiple Property Documentation Form

III. Discussion and Comment on Pending National Register Nomination Form for Park
Plaza Apartments, 1275 SW Fillmore Street

IV. Discussion and Comment on Pending National Register Nomination for HTK Office
Building, 2900 SW MacVicar Avenue

V. Discussion and Comment on Pending National Register Nomination for Evergreen
Apartments, 3311‐3321 SW 10th Avenue

V. Nomination and Appointment of the members of the Landmarks Commission’s
Design Review Committee

VI. Other Items (if any)

VII. Adjournment



TOPEKA LANDMARKS COMMISSION 

M I N U T E S 

Thursday, October 8, 2020 
VIA ZOOM VIDEO CONFERENCE 

 

… DRAFT … 

Roll Call 

Members Present: David Heit, (Chair), Dave Frederick, Donna Rae Pearson, Paul Post, Grant Sourk, 

Melina Stewart, Cassandra Taylor (7) 

Members Absent:  Mark Burenheide, Christine Steinkuehler (2) 

Staff Present: Tim Paris, Dan Warner, Kris Wagers 
 

Chairman David Heit called the meeting of the Topeka Landmarks Commission to order with seven 

members logged into the video conference. 

Announcement of potential conflicts – 

None 

CLGR 20-18 by Don Phillippi, 1200 SW Taylor St., requesting State Preservation Law Review for the 

placement of an 8’ privacy fence, and a 4’ decorative faux wrought iron fence to enclose the front and rear 

yards of the property. This property is considered to be a “non-contributor” to the historic integrity of the 

Holliday Park National Historic District. 

Mr. Paris presented the staff report and recommendation for approval, noting that the proposal does 

comply with City of Topeka fence regulations. The applicant was not logged in to speak. 

Motion by Mr. Sourk for a finding that the proposed fences to be placed onto the property located at 1200 

SW Taylor Street will not damage or destroy the historical integrity of the structure, or the surrounding 

Holliday Park National Historic District. Second by Ms. Taylor. APPROVED 7-0-0 

Approval of Minutes from September 10, 2020 

Motion by Mr. Post; second by Mr. Frederick. APPROVED 7-0-0 

CLGR 20-19 by Gary Piland, 923-925 S. Kansas Avenue, requesting State Preservation Law Review for 

the renovation and conversion of the 2nd level of the building into a single loft apartment. This property is 

listed as a “non-contributor” to the historic integrity of the South Kansas Avenue Commercial Historic District. 

Mr. Paris presented the staff report and recommendation for approval. He noted that Brian Falk was 

logged in representing the applicant, and Mr. Falk stated he had nothing to add to Mr. Paris’s 

presentation. Also logged in were the property owners, Gary Piland and his wife, who stated that they are 

long time Topekans and excited to be moving downtown and investing in Topeka. They intend to move 

both their current businesses into the space and lease the bottom floor out to potentially 2 more 

businesses, thus adding a total of 4 businesses to the 900 block of Kansas. 

Motion by Mr. Sourk for a finding that the interior alteration of the 2nd level of the building located at 923-

925 S. Kansas Avenue will NOT damage or destroy the historical integrity of the structure, or the 



TOPEKA LANDMARKS COMMISSION 

M I N U T E S 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

 

… DRAFT … 
MEETING DATE: OCTOBER 8, 2020 

2 

surrounding South Kansas Avenue Commercial Historic District.  Second by Mr. Frederick. APPROVED 

7-0-0 

CLGR 20-20 by Gary Piland, 923-925 S. Kansas Avenue, requesting State Preservation Law Review for a 

partial rehabilitation of the 1st level of the interior of the building, and modification to the rear exterior wall. 

This property is listed as a “non-contributor” to the historic integrity of the South Kansas Avenue Commercial 

Historic District. 

Mr. Paris presented the staff report and recommendation for approval and Mr. Falk stated he had nothing 

to add. 

Ms. Pearson asked how much of the stone wall is being removed, and Mr. Paris explained that the 

concrete block will be opened up to reveal openings that existed in the past. Mr. Falk verified that the floor 

will be raised slightly to street level so cars don’t bottom out when pulling in. Ms. Pearson asked and Mr. 

Falk verified that the AC units will be relocated. 

Based on an aerial photo, Mr. Sourk expressed concern about whether a vehicle would be able to 

maneuver in the amount of space available. When another photo was viewed from a different angle it 

showed that the configuration of the alley makes it easy to access the garage. 

Motion by Mr. Sourk for a finding that the proposed interior and rear exterior alterations of the 1st-level of 

the building located at 923-925 S. Kansas Avenue will NOT damage or destroy the historical integrity of 

the structure, or the surrounding South Kansas Avenue Commercial Historic District. Second by Mr. Post. 

APPROVED 7-0-0 

CLGR 20-21 by Gary Piland, 923-925 S. Kansas Avenue, requesting State Preservation Law Review for 

the removal of the front exterior façade. This property is listed as a “non-contributor” to the historic integrity of 

the South Kansas Avenue Commercial Historic District. 

Mr. Paris presented the staff report, making note that the lower storefront will, at least for the time being, 

remain largely as it is. He also noted that the owners can’t be certain of what the façade looks like under 

the current panels, but indications are that the rendering on page 2 of the staff report is correct. He noted 

that what is currently there has no historic value, but what is beneath adds value to the building and could 

potentially restore the building’s status as a contributing property. Earlier Ms. Pearson had expressed 

concern that continuing to remove facades makes it impossible for them to gain any historic significance 

of their own, and Mr. Paris stated that while he understands that concern, he’s not certain it’s a concern in 

regard to the EIFS panels on this building. Mr. Paris concluded with his recommendation for approval. 

Mr. Heit asked if the applicant would like to speak and Mr. Falk pointed out that currently it’s uncertain as 

to whether or not the cornice still exists but thinks it’s possible that it does. 



TOPEKA LANDMARKS COMMISSION 

M I N U T E S 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

 

… DRAFT … 
MEETING DATE: OCTOBER 8, 2020 

3 

Motion by Mr. Post for a finding that the removal of the exterior east-facing façade of the building located 

at 923-925 S. Kansas Avenue, as proposed, will NOT damage or destroy the historical integrity of the 

structure, or the surrounding South Kansas Avenue Commercial Historic District.  Second by Ms. Taylor. 

APPROVED 6/1/0 with Ms. Pearson voting no. 

 

Report on Selection of Consultants for Landmarks Commission 2020 Historic Preservation Fund 

Grant Projects 

Mr. Paris reported that JLD Preservation will be doing the West Hills Neighborhood Survey. The Country 

Club Addition Survey will be done by Cox McLain Environmental Consulting based in Austin, TX. 

September 30, 2021 is the final completion date for both projects. 

 

Adjourned at 6:26PM  



Page 1 of 3 

January 14, 2020 

CERTIFIED LOCAL GOVERNMENT  
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS 

REVIEW REPORT 
TOPEKA PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

CASE NO: CLGR20-25 by: Sisters of Charity of LHS, Inc. 

Project Address: Located within a 71 acre property located at 5800 SW 6th Avenue  
Property Classification: Listed on the Register of Historic Kansas Places, and the National 
Register of Historic Places 
Standards: Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation 
Attachments: Site Plan  [   ]       Elevations  [   ]      Arch./Const. Plans [   ]        Pictures [X] 

PROPOSAL: The applicant is requesting State Preservation Law Review under K.S.A. 75-2724 
for the proposed demolition of Menninger Tower building located at 5800 SW 6th Avenue. The 
Menninger Tower was listed on the Register of Historic Kansas Places and the National Register 
of Historic Places in 2005.  

BACKGROUND:  Historic information regarding the Menninger Tower can be found in the 
National Register Nomination.  The building dates to 1925 with construction of the central block. 
The east and west wings were opened between 1925 and 1930. The building was listed under the 
name Security Benefit Association Hospital, with historic functions as HEALTCARE/hospital. 
The building’s architectural style is noted as Late 19th & Twentieth Century Revivals; Colonial 
Revival.   

The nomination describes details of the building. The Tower Building is disposed symmetrically 
along perpendicular crossing axes. The primary axis is north to south and through the clock 
tower. The minor axis is east to west through the central block, with the tower offset to the south 
of this axis to abut the face of the central block. The total length is 230 feet and total width 130 
feet. Four-story “hyphens” separate the central block from the large flanking wings placed 
perpendicular on the east and west sides.  

The structure 
throughout is 
reinforced concrete 
except the tower, 
which is steel frame 
and concrete floor 
slab. All walls and 
partitions are clay 
tile.  The exterior face 
is English bond red 
brick. Cornices, first 
floor coursing, sills, 
headers, and such 
architectural details 
are limestone. 
Original wood 
windows remain 



Page 2 of 3 
 

(with few exceptions), being 6/6 and 4/4 divided lite sashes. 
 
The nomination also describes the building’s 
historic significance. The building 
exemplifies the Colonial Revival style as it 
was applied to institutional buildings in the 
decades between the two world wars. It 
deftly combines the bold concept of the 
skyscraper with the American colonial 
vernacular, as found in early America’s 
premier landmark, Independence Hall.  
 
The Tower Building is striking to see on the 
rolling landscape surrounding Topeka, state 
capital of Kansas.  
 
It is a noted architectural monument – one might say a wonder – of the Kansas landscape.  The 
SBA Hospital bespeaks in the various architectural languages of past and present the times when 
it was built, straddling the post war twenties and the Great Depression.  Few buildings from that 
era are more succinctly American. 
 
The Topeka Landmarks Commission has been requested to conduct State Preservation Law 
Review to determine if the proposed demolition will damage or destroy the historic property. 
 
REVIEW SUMMARY: The Kansas State Historic Preservation Office requires that all projects 
occurring on any property listed on the Register of Historic Kansas Places be reviewed for their 
affect on the listed property and the surrounding district. State law (K.S.A. 75-2724) establishes 
that the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation be used to evaluate changes 
proposed to any property that is individually listed, or is located within an historic district. The 
following is an analysis of the application of each Standard to the proposed project. 
 
Standard 1. A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that 

requires minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its 
site and environment. 

  
Analysis: The proposed project requires the demolition of the Menninger Tower building 

that has occupied the property since 1925. There is no proposed new use for the 
property.  

 
Standard 2. The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The 

removal of historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that 
characterize a property shall be avoided.  

 
Analysis: Demolition of the Menninger Tower building will remove its historic character. 
 
Standard 3. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and 

use. Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as 
adding conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings, 
shall not be undertaken.  

 
Analysis: This project will not introduce any features that will present a false sense of 

historical development. Demolition of the Menninger Tower building will 
remove its presence on the property.  

 
Standard 4. Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic 

significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved.  

 



Page 3 of 3 
 

Analysis: The Menninger Tower building has been in use for its intended purpose as a 
hospital/office building since its original construction. Demolition will not retain or 
preserve any of the historically significant features of the building.  

 
Standard 5. Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 

craftsmanship that characterize a property shall be preserved.  
 
Analysis: All distinctive features, finishes, and craftsmanship will be lost upon demolition of 

the Menninger Tower building.  
 
Standard 6. Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the 

severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new 
feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, 
where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated 
by documentary, physical, or pictorial evidence.  

 
Analysis: Deteriorated historic features will be demolished and removed with no plan for repair 

or replacement.  
 
Standard 7. Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to 

historic materials shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if 
appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest means possible.  

 
Analysis:  N/A 
 
Standard 8. Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and 

preserved. If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be 
undertaken.  

 
Analysis: Ground disturbing activities, such as demolition of a standing structure, may disturb 

undocumented historic resources buried in the adjacent soils. 
 
 Standard 9.  New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy 

historic materials that characterize the property. The new work shall be 
differentiated from the old and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, 
and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment.  

 
Analysis: N/A 
 
Standard 10.  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in 

such a manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired.  

 

Analysis: N/A  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: In light of these standards and the preceding analysis, Planning 
Staff recommends to the Topeka Landmarks Commission a finding that the proposed demolition 
of the Menninger Tower building located at 5800 SW 6th Avenue will damage or destroy the 
historic property.  
 
 

APPEAL TO THE GOVERNING BODY: If the Landmarks Commission determines that the 
proposed treatment will damage or destroy the historic property, the applicant may appeal to the 
governing body.  It will be incumbent upon the governing body to make a determination, after 
consideration of all relevant factors, that: (1) there is no feasible and prudent alternative to the 
demolition of the building; and (2) that the program includes all possible planning to minimize harm 
to such historic property resulting from the demolition.  
 
 

Prepared by:  Dan Warner, AICP, Planning Division Director 











































































































































This page intentionally left blank



NPS Form 10-900                                                                                                 OMB No. 1024-0018 
United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service  
 

   1 
 

 National Register of Historic Places Registration Form 
 
This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts.  See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How 
to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form.  If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for 
"not applicable."  For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the 
instructions.  Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative items on continuation sheets if needed (NPS Form 10-900a).   
 

1.  Name of Property 

Historic name  Park Plaza Apartments 

Other names/site number KHRI #177-4847 

Name of related Multiple Property Listing Mid-Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in 

Topeka: 1945-1975 

2.  Location 

Street & number  1275 SW Fillmore Street  n/a   not for publication 

City or town  Topeka  n/a    vicinity 

State  Kansas Code KS County Shawnee Code SN Zip code  66604 

3. State/Federal Agency Certification  
 

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,  
I hereby certify that this    x    nomination     _ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards 
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.  
In my opinion, the property   x _  meets     _  does not meet the National Register Criteria.  I recommend that this 
property be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance: 
       national             statewide        x     local         Applicable National Register Criteria:        A          B      x   C      ___D               
  

   
Signature of certifying official/Title  Patrick Zollner, Deputy SHPO                           Date 

Kansas State Historical Society   
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 

In my opinion, the property        meets        does not meet the National Register criteria.   

   
Signature of commenting official                                                                         Date 
 

   
Title                                                                                                  State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 
4.  National Park Service Certification  
I hereby certify that this property is:   
            entered in the National Register                                                                     determined eligible for the National Register             
           
            determined not eligible for the National Register                                             removed from the National Register  
    
           other (explain:)                                   _________________                                                               
                                                                                                                      

   
  Signature of the Keeper                                                                                                         Date of Action  

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 

 

2 
 

 

5.  Classification  
 
Ownership of Property 
(Check as many boxes as apply.) 

Category of Property 
(Check only one box.) 

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.) 
 

    Contributing Noncontributing  
x private x building(s) 1 0 buildings 
 public - Local  district 0 0 sites 
 public - State  site 1 0 structures 
 public - Federal  structure 0 0 objects 
   object            2 0 Total 

 
 
  Number of contributing resources previously 

listed in the National Register 

  0 
                                             
6. Function or Use                                                                      

Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.)  

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

DOMESTIC: Multiple Dwelling  DOMESTIC: Multiple Dwelling 

   

   

   

   

   

   
 
   
7. Description 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

 Materials  
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

MODERN MOVEMENT/International Style  foundation: CONCRETE 

  walls: BRICK 

    

  roof: Built-Up Gravel 

  other: GLASS, WOOD 

    
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 

 

3 
 

Narrative Description 
(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property.  Describe contributing and noncontributing 
resources, if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its 
location, type, style, method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.)   
 
Summary  
 
Constructed in 1959 and designed by architects Carl G. Ossmann & Associates of Topeka, the Park Plaza Apartment 
building is an excellent representation of a post-World War II garden apartment designed in the International Style. 
Located between two historic neighborhoods in Topeka (Central Park and Holliday Park), the two-story T-shaped building 
is situated at the northwest corner of the intersection of SW Fillmore and SW 13th Streets. The building contains 14 
apartments with varying floorplans. The building's massing; flat roof; groupings of ribbon windows with rectangular panels 
and canopy; blond brick construction; and overall lack of ornamentation are characteristic of the International Style of 
post-World War II Modern Movement architecture. The exterior remains unaltered since its construction and continues to 
convey the building's original design. The overall interior configuration remains largely intact. Character-defining features 
include the primary entryway and lobby, stairways, hallways, original plaster walls, and oak wood doors and flooring. The 
stairways retain original light fixtures – round globes hanging from the ceiling. 
 
In some cases, individual apartments are remodeled with modern carpeting, cabinetry, and bathroom materials. However, 
several apartments retain their original arrangement of space, flooring, cabinetry, and pink-tiled bathrooms. The property 
includes a large, multi-car carport dating to the original apartment construction. The carport retains its original mid-20th 
century design, including a flat metal roof with wide overhanging eaves and decorative metal screen walls at each end. 
 
 
Elaboration  
 
Setting and Site:  
 
The Park Plaza Apartment building is located at 1275 SW Fillmore Street in Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas. The site 
is located approximately ¾-mile southwest of downtown Topeka. It is sited within the historic Throop's Addition, a portion 
of which comprises the Central Park Neighborhood and park to the south. The historic Holliday Park neighborhood is 
located to the north. The southern boundary of the property forms the northern side of Central Park. The park itself is 
located one block southwest of the Park Plaza Apartment. The apartment occupies the property at the northwest corner of 
the intersection of SW 13th Street and SW Fillmore Street within a predominantly single-family residential neighborhood. 
Surrounding this intersection are two additional contemporaneous garden apartment buildings, including the Central Park 
Apartments (KHRI #177-4846), which was designed in 1957 by Carl G. Ossman & Associates, the same architect who 
later designed the Park Plaza Apartment. The two buildings are nearly identical in their design and materials. Additional 
multi-family apartment buildings dating to the mid-20th century are located one- and two-blocks east of Park Plaza.    
 
The residential streets are arranged in a gridded street plan and are characterized by relatively wide rights-of-way with 
mature street trees separating the road and concrete sidewalks. The streets are paved with stone curbing. SW Fillmore 
Street features historic brick paving. An alley is west of the property and conforms to the gridded street layout.  
 
The Park Plaza Apartment building is oriented east toward SW Fillmore Street and does not deviate from the setback of 
its neighbors. The massing of the building with a T-shaped form where the side wings are significantly setback from the 
central block is compatible with the scale of the neighborhood, although larger than the individual single-family dwellings. 
While the surrounding residential neighborhoods generally date from the late-19th to early-20th century, the rapid post-War 
population growth of Topeka and the operations of nearby Forbes Air Base influenced the neighborhoods' built 
environment. A scattering of mid-20th century housing dots the neighborhood, including the collection of 1950s garden 
apartments surrounding the intersection and along nearby streets. The primary distinction of the Park Plaza Apartments 
when compared to the surrounding neighborhood, is its distinguishable Modernist design in form, fenestration, material, 
and overall lack of ornamentation. Its predecessor, the Central Park Apartments, shares this Modernist design. 
 
The Park Plaza Apartment building is centrally located within a 0.57-acre grassed lot. A multi-car carport is located at the 
rear of the property, following along the rear alley. The detached carport (contributing resource) is separated from the 
apartment building by approximately 30 feet of grassed landscape with a few mature shade trees. A concrete sidewalk 
leads from the carport to a rear entry door of the apartment building. The building's primary entryway is inset and oriented 
to the southeast toward the corner of the intersection—concrete sidewalks at the corner form landscaping surrounding a 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 

 

4 
 

historic flagpole. At the northwest corner of the "square," a concrete sidewalk extends northwesterly to the principal 
entryway. 
 
Exterior:  
 
Constructed in 1959, the Park Plaza Apartment is T-shaped with a large central block projecting east and set back wings 
projecting to the north and south. All three ends of the building are characterized by large brick masses, whereas the 
remaining structure is characterized by large spans of windows. The northern wing is slightly shorter in width than the 
southern wing. The two-story building is reinforced-concrete construction with exterior walls of brick laid in a common 
bond pattern. The exterior brick is contrasting buff-colored and reddish-brown. The building has a flat roof of built-up 
gravel or asphalt with no overhangs at the brick masses. The building sits on a concrete basement foundation. The 
garden apartment is characterized by its groupings of window walls on the first and second floors. The window groupings 
are recessed and framed by wooden canopies extending slightly from the second-floor line and roof. The canopy mimics 
cantilevered design elements characteristic of Modernist architecture and features a wide wood fascia.  
 
Central wing: The front façade (east) of the central block is four bays (W, 2W, 2W, W) on each floor. Windows are one-
over-one, double-hung, horizontal wood sash with simple brick sills. The north and south elevations of the central block 
contain two windows with a recessed window wall where each floor has a projecting canopy above. The window walls are 
set at the junction of each projecting wing and contain five window units comprised of a large square fixed light with a 
rectangular awning window below. Above and below each window is a rectangular wood panel. The windows are wood-
framed. Where the south elevation of the central wing meets the east elevation of the south wing is an angled and 
cornered canopy above a recessed entryway and a grouping of windows. 
 
The primary entryway on the façade is slightly recessed. It features an original entry door with three horizontal lights. The 
door is flanked on either side bay sidelights containing three larges windows with heavy wood surrounds. Above the entry 
door and each sidelight is a rectangular wood panel. Above the entryway on the second floor, the fenestration is similar 
save but the entry door. Here, the central window is a glass louver. The cornered entry canopy is partially open, with 
vertical wooden boards span the opening. This design feature allows for a degree of natural lighting at the entrance. 
 
North & South Wings: At the connection of the central and south wings, the five window walls on each floor match those 
on the central wing. South of the window walls on the east elevation's brick mass are two individual windows. Here, the 
north windows are square two-light awnings. With the exception of the recessed entryway, the north wing features a 
similar fenestration on its east elevation to that of the south wing.  
 
The north and south elevations of the wings contain four single windows at each floor. The rear is characterized by a two-
bay (W, W) slightly projecting brick bay flanked on either side by two sets of window walls (5 windows each with picture 
windows over awnings) separated by a brick wall. Directly north of the center projecting bay on the first floor is an exterior, 
glazed entry door that opens towards the carport. 
 
 
Interior: 
 
Shared interior spaces include the main entry lobby with original built-in mailboxes, two stairways, hallways, and a laundry 
room on the first floor. A sitting room occupies the public space above the entry lobby on the second floor. The finishes in 
the shared spaces are simple, with little to no ornamentation. Floors are carpeted, and walls and ceilings are plastered. 
The stairway railings are plastered balustrade walls topped by oak railings. Original light fixtures hang from the lobby and 
sitting room ceilings and feature a simple round shade suspended by thin metal rods.  Hanging light fixtures in the stair 
halls are round globes also suspended by thin metal rods. The entry lobby features original built-in mailboxes, and the oak 
doors leading to each apartment contain the original attached metal apartment number. The small laundry room features 
original ceramic tile floors and a glazed tile base.  
 
Park Plaza contains a total of 14 apartments, seven on each floor. Some of the individual apartments have undergone 
remodeling. The original layout and materials of the remodeled apartments may be altered. Apartments vary in size and 
configuration. Historically, each apartment was one or two bedrooms with a single bathroom, kitchen, and storage 
cabinets. The larger living rooms occupy the interior space opposite the sections of ribbon windows. The large windows 
provide ample natural lighting into the living room. Interior apartment doors are oak with oak frames. Similarly, kitchen 
cabinetry and full-height closet doors are stained oak. Flooring in the apartments is historically oak floorboards. In some 
instances, an individual apartment is carpeted. A unique feature of the apartments is the bathroom with pink, glazed 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 

 

5 
 

ceramic tiling along the sink area and within the shower, as well as a pink ceramic sink. The overall interior design and 
configuration of the Park Plaza Apartments remains relatively unaltered, particularly within the shared spaces. 
 
The basement of the building is accessed from the north wing. The stairs leading to the basement are concrete with a 
quarter-turn landing. The basement has concrete flooring and is used for storage units and electrical equipment. 
Historically, the building was heated by coal. The original coal bin door is located within the basement. Its small metal 
door reads "The Donley Brothers Co. Cleveland, Ohio." 
 
Carport: 
 
The existing rectangular carport is original to the 1957 construction of the Park Plaza Apartment building and is 
considered a contributing resource to the property. It was built to accommodate one car per apartment, for a total of 14 
spaces. The one-story metal structure has a flat metal roof with wide overhanging eaves supported by metal posts. The 
carport is open on the long east and west sides. The short north and south ends of the carport feature metal screen walls. 
 
Integrity: 
 
Remarkably, the Park Plaza Apartment retains a high degree of historic integrity on both the interior and exterior. There 
are no known alterations to the exterior of the building or its historic site plan and arrangement of buildings. The exterior 
retains its character-defining features with the use of brick, long horizontal design and form, window walls, canopies, and 
flat roof. Original features in the interior are largely intact in common areas and many of the apartments. The interior 
shared space, such as the lobby, stairs and hallways, are slightly modified with the installation of carpeting atop the 
original hardwood floors. This modification is considered reversible, where the removal of the carpeting likely reveals the 
original flooring beneath.  
 
Although permission to access the interior apartments is limited, much of the original materials and arrangement of space 
are intact. Several of the apartments have likely undergone remodeling that altered the interior space of the apartment, 
materials, and design. However, access to the interior of Apartment #23 reveals the original footprint and design features 
of the individual apartments. The building is in good condition. It retains a good degree of its historic integrity of location, 
setting, feeling, materials, design, and workmanship. It continues to serve as a multi-family garden apartment and, 
therefore, maintains its historic association. 
 
Mid-Century Modern, Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka: 1945-1975: 
 
The Park Plaza Apartment building is classified as a "Multi-Family Apartment Building" associated property type as 
defined in the Mid-Century Modern, Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka: 1945-1975 MPS and clearly 
conveys the defining characteristics of post-World War II Modern apartment buildings. The Park Plaza Apartment meets 
the general requirements defined in the MPS. The two-story building was constructed in 1957 as a multiple dwelling 
having 14 apartments with the T-shaped garden apartment building. The building retains its exterior massing, unique 
configuration, and design elements characteristic of the International Style. The Park Plaza Apartment is nominated to the 
National Register of Historic Places under the Mid-Century Modern, Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in 
Topeka: 1945-1975 Multiple Property Documentation Form as a representative example of the Multi-Family Apartment 
Building Property Type and is an intact and well-preserved illustration of post-World War II Modernist multi-family 
architecture. 
  



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 

 

 
 

8. Statement of Significance 
 
Applicable National Register Criteria  
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National 
Register listing.) 
 

 A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history.  

 B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 
  

   

x C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics  
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high 
artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.  

   

 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history.  

   
 
Criteria Considerations  
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 
Property is: 
 

A 
 

 
Owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes.  

 
 

B 
 
removed from its original location. 

 
 

C 
 
a birthplace or grave. 

 
 

D 
 
a cemetery. 

 
 

E 
 
a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

 
 

F 
 
a commemorative property. 

 
 

G 
 
less than 50 years old or achieving significance 

  within the past 50 years. 

 
Areas of Significance  

ARCHITECTURE 

 

 

 

 

 
Period of Significance  

1959 

 

 
Significant Dates 

 

 

 
Significant Person  
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 
 

Cultural Affiliation 

 

 

Architect/Builder 

Architect, Carl G. Ossman & Associates 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Period of Significance (justification) 
 
The period of significance for the Park Plaza Apartments is 1957 – the building's date of construction. 
 
 
Criteria Considerations (justification) 
None 

 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

7 
 

Narrative Statement of Significance 
(Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of 
significance, and any applicable criteria considerations.) 
 
Summary  
 
Constructed in 1959, the Park Plaza Apartments at 1275 SW Fillmore Street in Topeka is nominated to the National 
Register of Historic Places under Criterion A in the area of Community Planning and Development as an intact illustration 
of garden apartments constructed to accommodate an record population growth during the post-World War II era. While 
several mid-20th century suburban neighborhoods developed throughout the City as the corporate limits expanded 
westward and southward, a handful of apartment buildings were erected within the earlier neighborhoods. Among those 
neighborhoods is the Throop's Addition in central Topeka, just southwest of downtown, which began development in the 
late-19th century. Park Plaza Apartments is also a rare example of a private residential cooperative to be formed by a 
small group of wealthy Topekans in the 1950s. The three known cooperatives (Park Plaza, Central Park (KHRI #177-
4846), and Lakeside Apartments) partnered with architectural firm Osmann & Associates to design the luxury apartments. 
 
Also, Park Plaza Apartments is eligible for Criterion C in the area of Architecture as an excellent representation of the 
International Style that dominated post-World War II design across the United States. The two-story garden apartment is 
characterized by its brick exterior, flat roof and sprawling, T-shaped form. Its rows of ribbon windows framed by 
cantilevered canopies and the overall lack of ornamentation further reflect the International Style principles of the Modern 
Movement in architecture. The apartment building is recognized as an excellent representation of garden apartments 
designed by established Topeka architects Ossman & Associates.  
 
The Park Plaza Apartments is nominated to the National Register of Historic Places under the Mid-Century Modern, Non, 
Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka: 1945-1975 Multiple Property Documentation Form (Destefano, 2020) as 
a representation of a Multi-Family Apartment Building Property Type. It is significant under Criteria A and C as a low-rise 
apartment building in the Throop's Addition that is indicative of the City's impressive post-War population growth and 
expansion. It is a well-preserved illustration of a garden apartment incorporating Modernist design elements, specifically 
the International Style. It is further significant as a rare surviving example of a private apartment cooperative in Topeka.  
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
Elaboration  
 
Neighborhood History 
 
The City of Topeka was first settled in the winter of 1854 when Cyrus K. Holliday and Charles Robinson traveled along the 
Kansas River in search of a new site for a second Kansas colony. An ideal location for the future colony was discovered 
on a low bluff on the south side of the Kansas River. The settlement was named Topeka, which was incorporated as a city 
on February 14, 1857, with a population of 450 residents. The following year, the county seat was moved from Tecumseh 
to Topeka, and in 1861, the city became the permanent location of the state capital.1  
 
Throughout the late-19th and early-20th centuries, the city limits expanded outward as small villages, neighborhoods, and 
undeveloped areas were annexed into the city. By 1890, the city's population exceeded 35,000 residents, with new 
streetcar suburbs emerging across the city. Among the early additions to the city was Throop's Addition, a residential 
suburb that first occurs on Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps by 1889. The Throop's Addition is located one block southwest 
of the Holliday Park neighborhood (NR-Listed 2002), which began development in the 1880s. Throop's Addition extended 
west and southwest to include the impressive 15-acre Central Park. Plans for the park began in 1899 when the property 
was sold to the City by Dr. John McClintock. Throop's Addition quickly experienced significant development as a streetcar 
suburb of Topeka. It extended the gridiron street layout of the earlier surrounding neighborhoods. Streets were 
characterized by brick paving and stone curbing lined by sidewalks with planted trees. Trolleys once ran along the 

 
1 Susan Ford, “Country Club Addition Neighborhood Historical Survey and Report,” prepared for the City of Topeka, Kansas, March 5, 
2018. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

8 
 

residential streets, connecting the neighborhood to downtown Topeka. Throop's Addition was developed primarily by 
single-family, middle- to -upper-middle-class dwellings enjoying spacious lots. Among the most notable dwellings within 
the neighborhood is the Chester B. Woodward House (KHRI 177-5400-0561, NRHP-listed 1992), completed in 1924 at 
1272 SW Fillmore Street. The impressive Tudor Revival houses is across the street from Park Plaza Apartments. The 
Throop's Addition continued to develop throughout the early-20th century and was nearly fully built out by World War II. 
 
Following World War II, Topeka experienced an unprecedented period of population growth and expansion. A number of 
factors contributed to this dramatic increase. Nationwide, the period from 1945 to 1975 was considered a "boom for 
single-family residential construction, suburbanization, and the realization of the American dream of home ownership."2 
Between 1945 and 1954, more than 13 million houses were constructed across the country. Among those, 80% were built 
in the suburbs of metropolitan areas and only 20% within cities.3 This housing boom was stimulated in part by affordable 
mortgages for returning veterans. At the same time, the jump in post-war births, known as the "baby boom," catapulted 
the national population. Such is Topeka's case where its adjacent suburbs continued to strengthen and were absorbed 
into the City's corporate limits.  
 
In 1944, the city's economy was given another boost when the Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company built an impressive 
plant in North Topeka. The presence of the Forbes Air Base south of downtown from the late-1940s through the 1960s 
further contributed to the population growth and renewed expansion and annexation of Topeka's residential sectors. By 
1950, the corporate limits of Topeka encompassed 12.5 square miles, with the population reaching 78,791.4 An 
"annexation fever" swept across Topeka during the 1950s, more than doubling the area of the City to 36.4 square miles in 
1960.5 
 
In response to the ever-increasing population, low-rise apartment buildings were built throughout the city, particularly in 
the developing suburbs. In some instances, such as that of Park Plaza, apartment buildings were built in older 
neighborhoods characterized by late-19th and early-20th century single-family residences. These earlier neighborhoods 
generally lacked driveways, with rear alleyways providing access to secondary structures such as carriage houses and 
garages. It was not until the post-War years when automobile ownership skyrocketed that integral garages and driveways 
were introduced. Thus, in an effort to maintain the historic aesthetic of the neighborhood and avoid on-street parking, a 
large carport was sited alongside the rear alley.   
 
A small collection of 1950s and 1960s low-rise apartment buildings are located within the vicinity of the Park Plaza 
Apartments. These include the Central Park Apartments (1957; KHRI #177-4846) at the southwest corner of the 
intersection of SW 13th and SW Fillmore Streets; the former Cowan Apartments (1963; KRHI #177-4845) at the southeast 
corner of the same intersection; and the Kevin Arms Apartments (1967; KHRI #177-3326) at 1221 SW Western Avenue. 
The siting of these apartment buildings suggests that this area of the Throop's Addition was facing development pressures 
resulting from the rapid post-War population boom. They also suggest that the earlier dwellings which they replaced were 
in a declining condition. In siting these apartments here, the overall make-up of this area of the neighborhood changed 
from single-family to a combination of both single-family dwellings and multi-family apartments. 
 
Private Cooperative Housing 
 
Housing cooperatives are collectively owned and managed by their residents, who own shares in a nonprofit corporation. 
The corporation generally holds the title to the property and grants proprietary leases to residents. Prospective purchases 
to own shares in the property must be approved by the co-op board. Oftentimes, the cooperative examines income-to-
debt ratios of potential buyers and may conduct background checks. When a member of the co-op decides to sell their 

 
2 Emily Pettis, et al., A Model for Identifying and Evaluating the Historic Significance of Post-World War II Housing, Washington, DC: 
Mead & Hunt for the Transportation Research Board, 2013; p.49. 
3 Kenneth T. Jackson, Crabgrass Frontier. The Suburbanization of the United States, New York: Oxford University Press, 1985; p.283. 
4 Topeka Capital-Journal, “Topeka at 150: Celebrating the Sesquicentennial of the Capital City of Kansas,” Topeka Capital-Journal, 
2004. 
5 Topeka Capital-Journal, “Topeka at 150: Celebrating the Sesquicentennial of the Capital City of Kansas,” Topeka Capital-Journal, 
2004. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

9 
 

shares, the board must approve the buyer prior to the sale. The board can reject applicants due to their finances or a 
refusal to abide by the association's rules and regulations.6  
 
The first housing cooperatives started in New York City in the late-1800s. The early cooperative dwellings were marketed 
towards citizens in high-income brackets who "wanted the advantages and economies of individual home ownership 
without all of the responsibilities."7 By 1925, housing cooperatives had been constructed in sixteen cities in the United 
States, the majority of which were high-income. Prior to the days of "fair housing laws," it was "not uncommon for 
cooperatives to reject membership to persons who were perceived not of the right racial, ethnic, or religious background."8 
 
The Stock Market crash in 1929 brought about the near standstill of the cooperative movement in the United States. The 
luxury cooperatives were hit especially hard due to excessive mortgaging and promoter profits, as well as high vacancy 
rates. Generally, the more affordable lower income cooperatives survived the Depression. Following World War II, the 
economy was booming. One significant change in the post-War years with the enactment of Section 216 of the IRS code 
in 1942 allowed income tax deductions for mortgage interest and property taxes for cooperative members.9 A resurgence 
of upper/middle-income co-ops nationwide following World War II. The National Housing Act of 1950 insured blanket 
mortgages held on cooperatives and rental communities. That same year, Section 213 was added to include middle-
income cooperatives. The legislation spurred the formation of approximately 45,000 cooperative units nationwide.10 
 
Topeka's tremendous population growth during the post-War years and outward suburban expansion spurred the 
development of small middle-class cooperatives throughout the city. Three known cooperatives were formed during the 
1950s, including the Central Park Apartments in 1957, Lakeside Apartments in 1958, and the Park Plaza Apartments in 
1959. A newspaper article in 1959 announces the construction of the Park Plaza Apartments: 
 

"Construction of a $250,000 co-op apartment building at 1275 Fillmore is scheduled to begin in 
early October. Carl G. Ossman, Topeka architect, is designer and developer of the project. 
Ossman said the new building is being constructed in response to a demand for more 
cooperative housing in Topeka. The 14 units will be of the 'own-your-own' type. Under this 
cooperative plan, each tenant owns his apartment and contributes a fee monthly toward the 
up-keep of the building and grounds. Funds are handled by an elected board of directors."  
– Topeka State Journal July 18, 1959 
 

Park Plaza Apartments, Inc. was incorporated on September 9, 1959, as a nonprofit organization with the purpose to 
provide "housing on a nonprofit basis, and, in pursuance thereof, to acquire, own, improve, develop, operate, manage, 
sell, convey, pledge, assign, mortgage, lease or rent any real estate and any personal property."11 According to the 
articles of incorporation, the organization was incorporated by five individuals: Fred C. Noller, W. B. Case, Mary W. Strain, 
Mary L. Marsh, and Carl G. Ossmann. Ossmann was also recognized as the Registered Agent for the organization. An 
affidavit dated August 22, 1961, indicates that Carl Ossmann was sworn in as treasurer of Park Plaza. Carl G. Ossmann 
is not only a founder of the Park Plaza co-op but is recognized as the lead architect for the three known cooperative 
apartment buildings constructed in Topeka in the 1950s. It is presumed that Ossmann thus had shares in all three of the 
co-ops during their early years.  
 
Following its incorporation, the Park Plaza Apartment building began construction on a site located directly across SW 
13th Street from the Central Park Apartment cooperative. The building site is a tract of land once occupied by the three-
story home of Marcus A. Low, general attorney for the Union Pacific railway. The home was built in 1902. It was later 

 
6 Lester Davis, “Condo vs. co-op: Know the differences before buying one,” The Washington Post, 31 January 2018. 
7 “A History of Housing Cooperatives,” National Cooperative Law Center, http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-
law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/ accessed July 2020. 
8 “A History of Housing Cooperatives,” National Cooperative Law Center, http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-
law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/ accessed July 2020. 
9 “A History of Housing Cooperatives,” National Cooperative Law Center, http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-
law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/ accessed July 2020. 
10 Ibid. 
11 Certificate of Articles of Incorporation, Park Plaza Apartment, Inc. 9 September 1959. 

http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/
http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/
http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/
http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/
http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/
http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/


United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

10 
 

purchased in 1937 by Topeka criminal lawyer, Edward Rooney where he lived until his death in 1956. The home was in a 
state of disrepair and was razed. Some of its building materials were salvaged prior to its removal (see Page 25).12  
 
According to former co-op shareholder Paul Prece, shareholders must meet an age requirement of at least 55 years; no 
pets of any kind are permitted in the building, and carpeting is required on the second floor to lessen unwanted noise on 
the first floor. Apartments were intended as "luxury apartments," each containing two bedrooms, a living room, kitchen, 
and bathroom (see Figure H).13 As the building was a direct result of the formation of the co-op, residents/shareholders 
were able to choose added amenities to their apartments. Such upgrades might include a fireplace or specific hardware. 
For example, one resident requested that a fireplace salvaged from the former Rooney House be installed in their 
apartment.14 
 
The Park Plaza Apartment has remained a private housing cooperative since its incorporation in 1959. While residents 
and shareholders have come and gone over the years, the cooperative maintains an executive board of five members, 
and all members are given equal say in approval of future shareholders. According to former resident and President Paul 
Prece, Park Plaza conveys a sense of a "big house" and "community." Among the three known contemporaneous co-ops 
in Topeka, Central Park and Park Plaza are sited adjacent to one another in a central Topeka neighborhood that is 
generally characterized by its late-19th and early-20th century single-family housing. The Lakeside Apartment cooperative 
was erected in a west Topeka neighborhood that developed as a post-World War II suburb. Lakeside no longer operates 
as a co-op, having recently been used as a nursing home. All were designed by Topeka architect Car. G. Ossmann. 
 
Architecture 
 
Topeka boasts an impressive collection of Modernist architecture, including a wide range of building types and distinct 
stylistic influences. The multitude of Mid-Century Modern buildings in Topeka is attributed not only to the "annexation 
fever" of the post-war period but also the 1951 Flood, an F-5 tornado that destroyed much of the City in 1966, and Urban 
Renewal programs. Collectively, these four events greatly impacted the City's built environment, with much of the new 
construction adopting the popular Modernist principles. The Park Plaza Apartment survives as a well-preserved illustration 
of a Modernist low-rise apartment building constructed within an historic neighborhood amongst late-19th and early-20th 
century single-family houses. It is a superb example of the International Style applied to a multi-family apartment building. 
 
Modern Architecture, or Mid-Century Modern, might be considered an umbrella term used for resources sharing 
characteristics commonly occurring in post-World War II American architecture, particularly in commercial and institutional 
buildings. Changes in construction methods, materials, and styles characterized post-World War II era architecture 
nationwide. Modernist architecture is based on the rational use of modern materials, functionalist planning, and the 
rejection of historical precedents. Among the common design elements characterizing Mid-Century Modern architecture is 
the general rejection of ornamentation and references to the past. Building materials and methods reflect technological 
advancements of the age and emphasize function over form, and "design based on expressing structure and use."15  
 
Modernist architecture would "convey meaning by the very lack of ornament."16 It was an era marked by a transformation 
from classical symbolism and masonry massing towards steel and glass construction to "celebrate innovation, freedom, 
and flexibility."17 Although references to the past were generally avoided, classical traditions often endured or evolved.  
 
Modernism has its roots in the International Style as it evolved in Europe during the 1920s. Modernism grew out of the art 
and architectural reform movements that came together in the Bauhaus School of Design in Weimer, Germany. The 
Bauhaus sought to steer artists and architects towards "building of the future." This philosophy carried strong associations 

 
12 Park Plaza Apartments, Inc. historical flyer. 
13 Paul Prece. Telephone Interview. Interviewer – Jaime Destefano, July 2020. 
14 Park Plaza Apartments, Inc. historical flyer; AND Interview with Jane Nichols, co-op shareholder. August 4, 2020. 
15 Peter Meijer Architect, “Thematic Survey of Modern Movement Non-Residential Architecture, 1945-1975, in St. Louis City,” 
City of Saint Louis Cultural Resources Office, 2013; p.14. 
16 Rifkind p.104 
17 Rifkind p.104. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

11 
 

with political reforms, socialism, and mandates to embrace the machine age.18 It was not until the Post-World War II era 
that American architects began embracing Modernism. According to Meghan Hogan's The Future of Modern, the 
Movement was a "salute to the postwar era itself, spearheaded by architectural giants such as Mies van der Rohe, Eero 
Saarinen, and Philip Johnson. At the height of its popularity, the sweeping curves, sheets of glass, and absence of 
ornament signaled change."19  
 
The International Style was popular nationwide from the 1940s through the 1970s, becoming the standard for American 
commercial and institutional design.20 The style emphasized technology and expression of construction methods, 
materials, exposed structural elements, and simplicity of form. It is from the International style that other Modernist styles, 
or sub-styles, are derived. The majority of Modernist buildings in Topeka reflect some degree of International Style design 
features. Identifying features of the International style include the following: 
 

• Modern structural principles and materials: concrete, glass, and steel 
• Occasional skeleton-frame construction, exposing its structure 
• Rejected non-essential decoration 
• Juxtaposition of materials 
• Ribbon windows and corner windows 
• Glass curtain walls and window walls 
• Balance and regularity 
• Flat roof, without overhangs 
• Metal mullions and smooth spandrel panels separating large, single-pane windows between 

floors 

Constructed in 1959, the Park Plaza Apartments is a classic example of the International Style. The two-story building is 
constructed of reinforced concrete with a brick exterior. It features a flat roof and an overall emphasis on horizontal lines. 
While the building form is a traditional T-shape with a central block and flanking wings, the angled main entryway at the 
juncture of the central block and south wing reflects Modernist inspiration. The building lacks exterior ornamentation and 
is best characterized by its horizontal bands of windows framed by cantilevered canopies on each floor. The ribbon 
windows are nearly full height on each floor and feature spandrel panels and lower horizontal hopper windows – classic 
International Style design features. While the Modern Movement window framing systems were most often metal, the 
windows at Park Plaza Apartments feature wood sash and wood frames. According to an artist rendering of the building, 
the architect intended that the secondary windows (those not part of the ribbon windows) to be comprised of three 
horizontal lights. However, according to a photograph immediately following the 1966 tornado, which caused minimal 
damage to the building, the windows were the same as those occurring today and are historic. 
 
Another unique design feature of the building is its angled entryway flanked by wide multi-light transoms and a multi-light 
curtain wall above. Additionally, the entryway features a prominent cantilevered canopy that extends above a wide entry 
stoop. The International Style was often considered stark and unappealing to later generations, yet the Park Plaza 
Apartments features additional "touches" that contribute to its aesthetically pleasing design.  
 
While Topeka boasts a large collection of International Style buildings, only a small number of low-rise apartment 
buildings employ the use of International Style design principles. Designed by the same architect, the neighboring Central 
Park Apartments shares a similar exterior design; however, it is believed to have undergone substantial interior 
remodeling. The third co-op apartment building, Lakeside Apartments, is located in west Topeka in a mid-20th century 
neighborhood. The former co-op was dissolved, and the building was recently used as a nursing home facility. While the 
three buildings are remarkably similar in their exterior design, the Park Plaza Apartment retains a higher degree of 
integrity on the interior.   

 
18 Jonathan and Donna Fricker, “Oil and Gas Building National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form,” National Park 
Service, 2013; page 8. 
19 Megan Hogan, “the Future of Modern: Federal Architecture in an Era of Change,” in Common Ground (Spring 2009), p.28 
20 Jonathan and Donna Fricker, “Louisiana Architecture: 1945-1965, Modernist Triumphant – Commercial and Institutional Buildings, 
September 2009, revised February 2010. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

12 
 

 
Carl G. Ossmann & Associates (1911-2002) 
 
Carl Ossmann & Associates of Topeka designed a number of buildings statewide during the mid-20th century, including a 
handful of institutional buildings and garden apartments. In addition to the Park Plaza, Central Park, and Lakeside 
Apartments in Topeka, the firm also designed the Quinton Heights Elementary School (KHRI #177-2117) in 1953 in 
Topeka. The school was designed in the International Style and is a sprawling one-story brick building with rows of 
windows. Another known school designed by Ossmann & Associates is the Baileyville Highschool in Nemaha County 
(KHRI #131-218) in 1952. The school is yet another illustration of the firm's preference for the International Style during 
the 1950s. Carl Ossmann is also known to have designed the Flint Hills Rural Electric Cooperative headquarters in 
Council Grove, Kansas (1959-1960). Ossman dabbled in the Googie Style in the entry of the otherwise International Style 
Boogarts Grocery in Abilene, Kansas (1966) and is known to have designed several stores for this chain in Kansas.21 
Later in his career, he designed the 79-bed nursing facility (1970) at the Topeka Veteran's Administration hospital.22 
Ossmann was a prolific architect throughout the state, and he briefly assumed the temporary position of acting state 
architect in September 1977, a position he held until August of 1978.23  
 
Summary 
The Park Plaza Apartments is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A in the area of 
Community Planning and Development. Its construction in 1959 within a late-19th and early-20th century neighborhood 
speaks toward the need to accommodate a rapidly growing post-War population in Topeka. In response to a growing 
demand for more cooperative housing in Topeka, architect, and developer, Carl G. Ossmann spearheaded the formation 
of the Park Plaza Apartment cooperative and two others in Topeka the 1950s. Park Plaza Apartments is also significant 
under Criteria C for Architecture. The building remains in its original location and retains its historic integrity and character-
defining features. Further, the building is a well-preserved illustration of a Mid-Century Modern, low-rise apartment in 
Topeka that draws upon the International Style.  The building meets the eligibility requirements for multi-family apartment 
buildings as outlined in the Mid-Century Modern, Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka. 
 

 
21 David H. Sachs and George Ehrlich, Guide to Kansas Architecture (Lawrence, KS: University Press of Kansas, 1996) p.174. 
22 “Ossman is Architect for Flint Hills Reca,” Council Grove Republican (Council Grove, Kansas), 3 April 1959; AND “New VA Long-
Term Nursing Home on Tap,” The Marysville Advocate, 30 July 1970. 
23 Mercury News Service, “Cool Appointed Acting Architect,” The Manhattan Mercury (Manhattan, Kansas), 9 August 1978. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

13 
 

9.  Major Bibliographical References  
 

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)      
 
Certificate of Articles of Incorporation, Park Plaza Apartment, Inc. 9 September 1959. 
 
Davis, Lester, "Condo vs. co-op: Know the differences before buying one," The Washington Post, 31 January 2018. 
 
Destefano, Jaime L., Mid-Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka: 1945-1975 
Multiple Property Documentation Form, prepared for the City of Topeka, 2019-2020. 
 
"A History of Housing Cooperatives," National Cooperative Law Center, http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-
cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/ accessed July 2020. 
 
Hogan, Megan. "the Future of Modern: Federal Architecture in an Era of Change," in Common Ground (Spring 
2009). 
 
Jackson, Kenneth T., Crabgrass Frontier. The Suburbanization of the United States, New York: Oxford University 
Press, 1985 
 
Meijer, Peter "Thematic Survey of Modern Movement Non-Residential Architecture, 1945-1975, in St. Louis City," 
City of Saint Louis Cultural Resources Office, 2013. 
 
Mercury News Service, "Cool Appointed Acting Architect," The Manhattan Mercury (Manhattan, Kansas), 9 August 1978. 
 
"New VA Long-Term Nursing Home on Tap," The Marysville Advocate, 30 July 1970. 
 
Nichols, Jane – Cooperative President. Interview by the author, Jaime Destefano. August 4, 2020. 
 
"Ossman is Architect for Flint Hills Reca," Council Grove Republican (Council Grove, Kansas), 3 April 1959 
 
Park Plaza Apartments, Inc, brief historical write-up by the cooperative. 
 
Pettis, et al., Emily A Model for Identifying and Evaluating the Historic Significance of Post-World War II Housing, 
Washington, DC: Mead  & Hunt for the Transportation Research Board, 2013. 
 
Prece, Paul – former co-op President. Interview by the author, Jaime Destefano. July 2020. 
 
Topeka Capital-Journal, "Topeka at 150: Celebrating the Sesquicentennial of the Capital City of Kansas," Topeka Capital-
Journal, 2004. 
 

 
Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): KHRI 177-4847 

 

Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data: 
 preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67 has been x State Historic Preservation Office 
 requested)   Other State agency 
 previously listed in the National Register  Federal agency 
 previously determined eligible by the National Register  Local government 
 designated a National Historic Landmark  University 
 recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey   #____________  Other 

 recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # __________   Name of repository:     
 recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # ___________    

http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/
http://nationalcooperativelawcenter.com/national-cooperative-law-center/the-history-of-housing-cooperatives/3/


United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

14 
 

10.  Geographical Data                                                               
 

Acreage of Property  Less than one 
 
 

Provide latitude/longitude coordinates OR UTM coordinates.  
(Place additional coordinates on a continuation page.) 
 
Latitude/Longitude Coordinates  
Datum if other than WGS84: ____________ 
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 

 
1  39.043004   -95.689697  3       
 Latitude:  Longitude:      Latitude: 

 
Longitude: 

2      4       
 Latitude: Longitude: 

 
    Latitude:  Longitude: 

 
OR 
 
UTM References 
    NAD 1927     or     NAD 1983 

 

 
 

Verbal Boundary Description (describe the boundaries of the property) 
Located in the Throop's Addition in the central Topeka, Lot 511 at Fillmore Street, including lots 513, 
5151, 517, 519, and 521 in Section 1, Township 12, Ranger 15. Beginning at the northeast corner of the 
property at SW Fillmore Street, thence in a southerly direction 152 feet, thence westerly 160 feet. The 
boundary then continues in a northerly direction for approximately 152 feet. The boundary then travels 
160 feet in an easterly direction along to the point of beginning. 

 
Boundary Justification (explain why the boundaries were selected)  
 
The nominated boundary includes the entire parcel, which is historically associated with the Park Plaza 
Apartment. 

          3        
 Zone 

 
Easting 
 

Northing Zone 
 

Easting 
 

Northing 
 

         4         
 Zone 

 
Easting 
 

Northing 
 

 Zone 
 

Easting 
 

Northing 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

15 
 

    
11. Form Prepared By  

name/title  Jaime L. Destefano, MSHP 
organization JLD Preservation Consulting LLC 

date 
August 5, 2020 
 

street & number  PO Box 445 telephone  404-694-2066 

city or town   Fentress state TX  zip code  78622 

e-mail JLD.PreservationConsulting@gmail.com 
 
     

Property Owner:  (complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO)  

name Park Plaza Apartments, Inc.; Jane Nichols Representative 

street & number  701 SW Gage Blvd. telephone 785-608-2759 

city or town   Topeka state Kansas zip code 66604 

 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic 
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response 
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 
et seq.). 
 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including  
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form.  Direct comments regarding 
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
 

Additional Documentation 
Submit the following items with the completed form: 
 
Photographs 

Submit clear and descriptive photographs.  The size of each digital image must be 1600x1200 pixels 
(minimum), at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger.  Key all photographs to a sketch map or aerial map. 
Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to the photograph number on 
the photo log.  For simplicity, the name of the photographer, photo date, etc. may be listed once on 
the photograph log and doesn't need to be labeled on every photograph. 
 
Photograph Log 
Name of Property:  Park Plaza Apartments 
City or Vicinity:  Topeka 
County: Shawnee State:  Kansas 
Photographer:  Jaime Destefano, MSHP 
Date Photographed: November 11, 2019 
 
Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of 
camera: 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

16 
 

1 of 20. Front Façade (South Elevation), photographer facing north 
2 of 20. Front Façade (South Elevation), photographer facing north 
3 of 20. Southeast Oblique, photographer facing northwest 
4 of 20. Southwest Oblique, photographer facing northeast 
5 of 20. Northwest Oblique, photographer facing southeast 
6 of 20. North Elevation, photographer facing south 
7 of 20. East Oblique, photographer facing northwest 
8 of 20. Raised Plant Beds along Front Façade (south elevation), photographer facing west 
9 of 20. Rear patio, stone retaining wall, and stone bridge, photographer facing northeast 
10 of 20. Interior reception, photographer facing northeast 
11 of 20. Interior reception and waiting lobby, photographer facing southeast 
12 of 20. Conference Room, photographer facing southeast 
13 of 20. Front Office, photographer facing southeast 
14 of 20. Drafting Room, photographer facing northwest 
15 of 20. Drafting Room, photographer facing east 
16 of 20. Drafting Room, photographer facing southwest 
17 of 20. Work Room Cabinetry, photographer facing southwest 
18 of 20. Hall and Kitchenette, photographer facing northeast 
19 of 20. Basement, photographer facing northwest 
20 of 20. Basement – Modern Kitchen and Small Room Additions, photographer facing  

south 
 
Figures 
 Include GIS maps, figures, scanned images below. 
 

a. Architect Rendering 
b. Topographic Map 
c. Enlarged Topographic Map 
d. Aerial Map 
e. Enlarged Aerial Map with Building Coordinates 
f. Site Plan showing Exterior Photograph Locations 
g. Interior Floor Plan with Photograph Locations  
h. Floor Plan of Typical Apartment 
i. Park Plaza Apartments, Inc Information and Articles of Incorporation 

 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places 
Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

17 
 

 
 
Figure 1. Architect Rending of Park Plaza Apartments, 1959 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

18 
 

 

 
B. Topographic Map – Overview 

 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

19 
 

 
C. Enlarged Topographic Map Showing Building Location 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

20 
 

 
D. Google Earth Aerial Photograph – Overview 

 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                          National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                      OMB No. 1024-0018  

     

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property             County and State 
 

21 
 

 
E. Parcel Bounding with Building Coordinates and Aerial Underlay 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

22 
 

 
 

 
F. Site Plan with Exterior Photograph Locations 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

23 
 

 

 
G. Original Interior Floor Plan (1966) with Photographs  

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

24 
 

 
H. Architect Drawing of Typical Apartment Layout, 1959 

Source: Park Plaza Apartment, Inc. Historic Information (see Figure I.) 
 
 

I. The following documents include the Park Plaza Apartments, Inc. Historical Information and 
Articles of Incorporation, as well as an Affidavit naming Carl Ossmann as Treasurer 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

25 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

26 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

27 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

28 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

29 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

30 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

31 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

32 
 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

Park Plaza Apartments  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

33 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for nominations to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.). We may not conduct or sponsor and you are not 
required to respond to a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for each response using this form is estimated to be between the Tier 1 and Tier 4 levels with 
the estimate of the time for each tier as follows: 
 

Tier 1 – 60-100 hours 
Tier 2 – 120 hours 
Tier 3 – 230 hours 
Tier 4 – 280 hours 

 
The above estimates include time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and preparing and transmitting nominations. Send 
comments regarding these estimates or any other aspect of the requirement(s) to the Service Information Collection Clearance Officer, National Park 
Service, 1201 Oakridge Drive Fort Collins, CO 80525. 

 
 

 



This page intentionally left blank



NPS Form 10-900                                                                                                 OMB No. 1024-0018 
United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service  
 

   1 
 

 National Register of Historic Places Registration Form 
 
This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts.  See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How 
to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form.  If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for 
"not applicable."  For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the 
instructions.  Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative items on continuation sheets if needed (NPS Form 10-900a).   
 

1.  Name of Property 

Historic name  HTK Architects Office Building 

Other names/site number Golden Rule Remodeling; KHRI #177-4822 

Name of related Multiple Property Listing Mid-Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in 

Topeka: 1945-1975 

2.  Location 

Street & number  2900 SW MacVicar Avenue  n/a   not for publication 

City or town  Topeka  n/a    vicinity 

State  Kansas Code KS County Shawnee Code SN Zip code  66611 

3. State/Federal Agency Certification  
 

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,  
I hereby certify that this    x    nomination     _ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards 
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.  
In my opinion, the property   x _  meets     _  does not meet the National Register Criteria.  I recommend that this 
property be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance: 
       national             statewide         x    local         Applicable National Register Criteria:        A          B      x    C      ___D               
  

   
Signature of certifying official/Title  Patrick Zollner, Deputy SHPO                           Date 

Kansas State Historical Society   
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 

In my opinion, the property        meets        does not meet the National Register criteria.   

   
Signature of commenting official                                                                         Date 
 

   
Title                                                                                                  State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 
4.  National Park Service Certification  

I hereby certify that this property is:   
            entered in the National Register                                                                     determined eligible for the National Register             
           
            determined not eligible for the National Register                                             removed from the National Register  
    
           other (explain:)                                   _________________                                                               
                                                                                                                      

   
  Signature of the Keeper                                                                                                         Date of Action  

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

2 
 

 

5.  Classification  
 
Ownership of Property 
(Check as many boxes as apply.) 

Category of Property 
(Check only one box.) 

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.) 
 

    Contributing Noncontributing  
x private x building(s) 1 0 buildings 
 public - Local  district 0 0 sites 
 public - State  site 2 1 structures 
 public - Federal  structure 2 0 objects 
   object            5 1 Total 

 
 
  Number of contributing resources previously 

listed in the National Register 

  0 
                                             
6. Function or Use                                                                      

Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.)  

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

COMMERCE/TRADE: professional  COMMERCE/TRADE: professional 

   

   

   

   

   

   
 
   
7. Description 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

 Materials  
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

MODERN MOVEMENT/International Style  foundation: CONCRETE 

  walls: WOOD/cedar 

   CONCRETE 

  roof: ASPHALT 

  other: GLASS 

    
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

3 
 

Narrative Description 
(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property.  Describe contributing and 
noncontributing resources, if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general 
characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, method of construction, setting, size, and significant 
features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.)   
 
Summary  
 
The HTK Architects Office Building, located at 2900 SW MacVicar Avenue in Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, is a 
single-story building on a sloping site with a walkout basement. Designed by HTK Architects in 1966, the building served 
as the firm's professional office until 2013, when they relocated to downtown Topeka. The building is an example of a 
small-scaled International Style office building in Topeka. The building combines Modernist construction methods, 
materials, and principles with the elements of an American version of the International Style. The rectangular building with 
a flat roof is characterized by a contrasting broad reinforced concrete exterior base, vertical cedar board siding, and 
expansive window walls. The building and site demonstrate a clear integration of inside and outside relationships, which is 
a prime tenant of Modernism. The interior of the building consists of gypsum walls, ceilings, and carpeted floors. This 
nomination includes the entire property on which the HTK Architects Office Building was built due to the clear integration 
of nature into its overall design. The building remains relatively unchanged since its construction, retaining the Modernist 
design elements employed by HTK Architects. The few alterations include pushing the recessed entry door further out to 
accommodate a small interior lobby and the addition of a kitchen, bathroom, and closet to the basement, both occurring 
during a remodeling in 2018-2019. Despite these alterations, the original design intent is very much intact. In addition to 
the building, the property includes two contributing structures and two contributing objects that are contemporaneous to 
the construction of the building. The property includes one noncontributing structure – a decorative wood low screen wall 
built post-2016 to conceal a non-historic handicap ramp and associated handrails. 
 
 
Elaboration  
 
Setting and Site: The HTK Architects Office Building is located in the northeast corner of Kansas in the city of Topeka, 
which is sited along the southern bank of the Kansas River. Topeka is similar to many Midwest towns with an older urban 
core surrounded by newer suburban sprawl. The office building is located within the South Topeka Area neighborhood, 
which is roughly bounded by SW Gage Boulevard, SW 29th Street, SW Burlingame Road, and I-470 to the south. The 
building is located approximately 3.25 miles southwest of downtown Topeka at the southwest corner of the intersection of 
SW MacVicar Avenue and SW 29th Street. This intersection is characterized by a small collection of office buildings within 
a largely residential sector of the city associated with the City's post-World War II "Annexation Fever." The property is 
located at 2900 SW MacVicar Avenue. Adjacent to the east are two 1960s small- to moderate-sized office buildings, 
including the Menninger Education Center (KHRI #177-4683), which was constructed in 1965 and listed on the National 
Register in 2020 (#100005120). The surrounding residential neighborhood similarly dates to the 1960s and features a 
good collection of ranch houses.  
 
The HTK Architects Office Building is centrally sited within a 0.58-acre parcel of land (Figure E). The building rests atop a 
small hill that slopes downward toward the intersection. The property is irregular in shape and characterized by a natural 
setting that is partially wooded with a creek bed or natural drainage feature meandering in a northwesterly direction 
toward the intersection of the two roads. A low stone retaining wall follows the southwestern edge of the drainage. A stone 
bridge with metal railing crosses the creek bed, connecting the property to the rear of the office buildings to the northeast. 
It is believed that the bridge and retaining wall were built for the neighboring community in the 1960s, prior to the 
development of this corner.  Although not directly related to the design of the HTK Architects Building, both contribute to 
the overall aesthetic of the property. Both are considered contributing structures to the property. 
 
The small office building is oriented in a north-south direction, parallel to SW MacVicar Avenue. The building is setback 
from MacVicar Avenue by 40 feet, whereas its setback from the busier SW 29th Street is approximately 130 feet. The 
siting of the building atop a hill and its deep setback from SW 29th Street creates a more residential and natural setting 
than the two office buildings to the northeast that front SW 29th Street. The HTK Building faces south toward a small 
paved parking lot.  
 
The exterior design and landscaping immediately surrounding the building evokes a deliberate attempt to incorporate 
nature into the design of the property. Along the front of the building is an 8-foot wide raised planting bed framed by bush-



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

4 
 

hammered concrete. A wooden walkway bridge extends from the center of the façade (south), crossing above the planting 
area. A concrete handicap ramp (post-2016) extends along the western plant bed, and a concrete sidewalk is along the 
eastern plant bed, wrapping around the east side of the building. Both the ramp and sidewalk connect to the parking lot to 
the south (Figure F). The northern side of the parking lot is lined with a concrete sidewalk. Between the concrete 
pathways, the yard is grassed with two mid-century light fixtures comprised of a simple round metal post and a large 
round globe that is tinted. The light fixtures are original to the building and shown on both the 1966 construction plan and 
architect rendering of the building (Figures I and J). As such, the light fixtures are considered contributing objects to the 
property. An approximately 4-foot high wooden privacy fence wall is along the western half of the front garden bed and 
walkway. This was installed in the 2018-2019 remodel to conceal the handicap ramp. The wall is not part of the original 
design, and therefore, is a noncontributing structure on the property.  
 
Along the east side of the building, a decorative wooden screen wall separates concrete steps from the wall of the 
building, apparently concealing exterior electrical equipment. At the base of the steps was historically a small Japanese 
garden that was replaced with a square concrete patio during the c.2016 renovations of the building conducted by the 
present owners, Golden Rule Remodeling. At the north end of the patio is a raised U-shaped concrete bench wall and 
rectangular fire pit. North of the building, the natural, partially wooded setting continues to contribute to the intended 
"organic" design of the building. 
 
Exterior: The HTK Office Building is approximately 40-feet by 40-feet with a flat, built-up gravel roof with wood fascia. The 
building is one-story; however, due to the natural sloping down towards the rear (north), basement walls are exposed. The 
building rests on reinforced concrete foundation walls and footers, with steel columns and beams. The basement floor is a 
concrete slab. The basement exterior is exposed bush hammered corduroy concrete walls visible on all elevations save 
but the front elevation. The main level, or first floor, cantilevers slightly beyond the raised basement. The building is 
characterized by its window walls along the front façade (south) and rear (north) elevations, in contrast to the other solid 
exterior materials. Specifically, the vertically-oriented cedar siding on the first floor contrasts with the texture of the 
corduroy concrete walls along the basement. The architect's use of the bush-hammered concrete walls further enhances 
the natural feel of the building. The weathering of the concrete blends nicely with the surrounding natural setting and gives 
the appearance of a more natural material. 
 
The front façade is symmetrical, with a recessed central entryway flanked by tinted window walls. The window walls are 
framed by beams with wood fascia and are comprised of four bays of insulated sliding doors. The entry door was replaced 
in 2019 by a single-leaf glass door with a wide, single-light sidelight. The original door was located further to the north, 
which created a longer wooden walkway crossing the raised plant beds. During the 2019 renovation, the door was pushed 
forward to accommodate a small interior lobby. The west elevation lacks windows or door openings. 
 
The first floor of the north elevation features a full-width window wall comprised of five bays of insulated sliding doors. At 
the basement level, a set of five fixed windows with metal frames occupies the western half of the wall. Projecting from the 
west end of the rear elevation is a corduroy concrete wall. The wall acts as a privacy screen at the rear of the building. 
Similarly, the exterior wall occupying the eastern half of the rear extends approximately 10 feet from the east elevation. 
Here, the wall provides privacy to the outdoor patio on the east elevation. 
 
On the east elevation, a large, multi-light garage bay door is located at the basement level. Its opening is original to the 
building and designed for a sliding door. The garage bay door was installed during the recent renovations. Perpendicular 
to the north of the door, a prominent bush-hammered concrete screen wall extends from the basement. The west 
elevation reveals a partially raised basement. The basement's west wall extends approximately 10 feet from the south 
elevation, acting as a screen wall. The south elevation reveals a full-height basement with a corduroy concrete wall and a 
window wall comprised of five metal-framed panes.  
 
Interior: The interior of the HTK Architects Office Building retains its overall arrangement of space and design elements. 
The first floor (upper level) rooms are arranged around a central reception area, and the large open drafting room 
occupies the full rear third of the floor and looks to the wooded lot along the entire north wall. The approximate 8-foot 
ceilings are painted gypsum board panels, and the floors are concrete. In some spaces, recent carpeting was installed 
atop the concrete floor. Interior walls are primarily drywall; however, sidewalls of the drafting room, office, conference 
room, and lobby are clad in the same vertical cedar siding as the building's exterior. This emphasizes the indoor-outdoor 
relationship of the building, a prime tenant of Modernism and the International Style. Among the most distinguishing 
features of the interior is the use of red birch for the cabinetry, doors, and base.  
 
Upon entry into the building from the main entrance on the front façade is a narrow entry lobby with walls clad in the 
vertical siding matching the exterior cladding. Historically, the lobby was a covered extension of the wooden walkway that 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

5 
 

crosses the raised plant beds along the front of the building. The 2018-2019 remodel pushed the primary entry door 
northward approximately four to five feet to accommodate the small waiting area. The lobby is carpeted. 
 
Directly south of the entryway and lobby is the central reception area. Here the walls are drywall and floors carpeted. The 
conference room and office on either side of the lobby each contain two sets of sliding window walls. Adjacent to the north 
of the office is a narrow hallway with a concrete block eastern wall. Opposite this wall is a concrete vault presently used 
for storage. The hallway is carpeted with full-height red birch cabinets and a small kitchenette that is original to the design. 
The hallway leads to an open drafting room occupying the north end of the first floor. The row of sliding glass doors along 
the north wall provide extensive natural lighting into the space. Two long rows of fluorescent lighting spans the ceiling. 
According to the construction drawings, the architects provided framing for a future 30-inch wide stair hall within the 
drafting room. The stairs were reportedly installed in the 1960s. Recent renovations removed the stairs. 
 
At the basement level, the floors are concrete, and interior steel support posts are exposed. The majority of the basement 
walls are original vertical cedar siding, matching the exterior wood siding on the first floor. The basement is primarily an 
open space. Ghost marks on the concrete floor that form a rectangular shape indicate the location of a former set of stairs 
leading from the drafting room above. The window wall on the north end of the basement strongly integrates the 
surrounding environment into the space, as well as provides abundant natural lighting. Recent building renovations 
included the addition of a kitchen, bathroom, and storage room to the basement. The kitchen occupies the south end of 
the open space, flanked on either side by the bathroom and storage room. The walls of the additions are drywall.  
 
Alterations: Modifications to the HTK Architects Office Building occurred during the recent renovations undertaken by the 
present owner, Golden Rule Remodeling. The majority of the modifications occur in the basement. Specifically, the 
basement features a new entry door and a garage bay door that replaced the original sliding doors. Also, in the basement, 
the stairs leading from the drafting room on the first floor were removed, and the kitchen, bathroom, and storage room 
were installed. On the first floor, the location of the entry door was pushed forward to accommodate the small lobby, and 
the door replaced. Within the drafting room, low walls, which are removable, were installed to create private cubicle 
space. Landscaping modifications include the addition of the concrete handicap ramp, the decorative wood fence/wall to 
hide the ramp, and the wooden enclosure of possible electrical equipment on the east elevation. In addition, the former 
Zen/Japanese garden was replaced with the present concrete patio with a fire pit and concrete bench.  
 
Integrity: The HTK Architects Office Building has not moved since its construction. Therefore, it retains its historic 
location. Landscaping alterations are minor and done primarily for aesthetic purposes to conceal necessary modern 
installations, including the handicap ramp and exterior electrical or plumbing equipment. The patio addition might be 
considered a modern upgrade to the earlier Zen garden. The changes within the interior of the building are minor and do 
not affect the form, space, structure, and overall style of the property. Thus, the integrity of materials, workmanship, and 
design remain intact. The HTK Architects Office Building was built at a time during the 1960s when many buildings in the 
surrounding neighborhood were constructed, including office buildings fronting SW 29th Street. The area is a combination 
of residential, light commercial, and office construction. Despite minimal infill construction within the area, its overall 
setting remains largely intact and continues to reflect a mixed suburb contemporaneous with Topeka's extensive 
expansion throughout the mid-20th century. The building strongly reflects Modernist aesthetics of mid-century design, 
particularly the use of modern materials and building methods, and the International Style with its characteristic flat roof, 
juxtaposition of materials, and asymmetrical compositions. Together, the building, its setting, and landscape elements 
maintain the historic aesthetic intended by the architects. The building was designed by prolific Topeka architects, HTK 
Architects, to serve as their office. The firm was the only tenant of the building for nearly 55 years when in c.2016, they 
relocated their office to downtown to accommodate an expanding business. The building continues to be remembered for 
its association with the firm. Further, the new owners, who specialize in architectural remodeling, have maintained the 
building's use as a professional office. 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

8. Statement of Significance 
 
Applicable National Register Criteria  
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National 
Register listing.) 
 

 A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history.  

 B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 
  

   

x C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics  
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high 
artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.  

   

 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history.  

   
 
Criteria Considerations  
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 
Property is: 
 

A 
 

 
Owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes.  

 
 

B 
 
removed from its original location. 

 
 

C 
 
a birthplace or grave. 

 
 

D 
 
a cemetery. 

 
 

E 
 
a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

 
 

F 
 
a commemorative property. 

 
 

G 
 
less than 50 years old or achieving significance 

  within the past 50 years. 

 
Areas of Significance  
ARCHITECTURE 

 

 

 

 

 
Period of Significance  

1966 

 

 
Significant Dates 
 

 

 
Significant Person  
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 
 

Cultural Affiliation 
 

 

Architect/Builder 
HTK Architects 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Period of Significance (justification) 
 
The Period of Significance is 1966, when the HTK Architects Office Building was erected.  
 
Criteria Considerations (justification) 
 
N/A 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

Narrative Statement of Significance 
(Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the 
period of significance, and any applicable criteria considerations.) 
 
Summary  
 
The HTK Architects Office Building is nominated to the National Register of Historic Places under the Mid-
Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka context as an excellent example 
of the Small Office property type. It is nominated under Criterion C as a local example of Modernist 
architecture incorporating the International Style. The building's overall functional form, flat roof, curtain 
walls, and exposed reinforced concrete walls are all distinguishing design features of Modernist 
architecture, specifically the International Style. One particular element of the International Style is the 
solid planar east and west facades contrasted to the completely clear glazed north and south facades. 
The walls of sliding glass doors not only provide considerable natural lighting but are a deliberate attempt 
to bring the outdoors inside. The bush-hammered corduroy concrete exterior walls at the basement level 
extend beyond the boxy enclosure above, screening glass openings and creating exterior space. The 
same exterior cedar siding is used on interior walls – another design element to bring the outdoors in. The 
use of exterior bush-hammered concrete walls at the basement create a more natural appearance than 
raw concrete and contrast with the wood and glass first floor, cantilevered above. Additional International 
Style design elements include distinct zones distinguished by exterior material (wood/concrete), and walls 
extending beyond the building to create private outdoor space. Finally, the overall design of the building 
includes a raised planting bed along the front façade with a wooden walkway and bridge crossing over. 
An original Japanese garden was replaced with a modern concrete patio with a fire pit. The stone bridge 
at the rear of the property, which spans multiple property lines, further reflects the builder's attempt to 
encourage people to enjoy a natural park-like setting between office buildings. The office building, along 
with original landscape elements, retain a high degree of integrity. 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
Elaboration  
 
Neighborhood History 
 
The City of Topeka was first settled in the winter of 1854 when Cyrus K. Holliday and Charles Robinson 
traveled along the Kansas River in search of a new site for a second Kansas colony. An ideal location for 
the future colony was discovered on a low bluff on the south side of the Kansas River. The settlement 
was named Topeka, which was incorporated as a city on February 14, 1857, with a population of 450 
residents. The following year, the county seat was moved from Tecumseh to Topeka, and in 1861, the 
city became the permanent location of the state capital.1  
 
Throughout the late-19th and early-20th centuries, the city limits expanded outward as small villages, 
neighborhoods, and undeveloped areas were annexed into the city. By 1890, the city's population 
exceeded 35,000 residents, with new streetcar suburbs emerging across the city. By 1940, Topeka had 
reached an area of 11.6 square miles with a population of 67,833.2 The corporate city limits included 
North Topeka on the north side of the Kansas River; the Oakland annexation at the northeast corner; the 
city cemetery at the southeast corner; Quinton Heights to the south; and Washburn College at the 
southwest corner. The western edge extended to include MacVicar, High, and Summit Avenues. 

 
1 Susan Ford, “Country Club Addition Neighborhood Historical Survey and Report,” prepared for the City of Topeka, 
Kansas, March 5, 2018. 
2 Topeka Capital-Journal, “Topeka at 150: Celebrating the Sesquicentennial of the Capital City of Kansas,” Topeka 
Capital-Journal, 2004. 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

Lowmans Mill was adjacent to the west of the city limits, and the State Insane Asylum adjacent to the 
northwest. 
 
Following World War II, Topeka experienced an unprecedented period of population growth and 
expansion. A number of factors contributed to this dramatic increase. Nationwide, the period from 1945 to 
1975 was considered a "boom for single-family residential construction, suburbanization, and the 
realization of the American dream of home ownership."3 Between 1945 and 1954, more than 13 million 
houses were constructed across the country. Among those, 80% were built in the suburbs of metropolitan 
areas and only 20% within cities.4 This housing boom was stimulated in part by affordable mortgages for 
returning veterans. At the same time, the jump in post-war births, known as the "baby boom," catapulted 
the national population. Such is the case in Topeka, where its adjacent suburbs continued to strengthen 
and were absorbed into the City's corporate limits.  
 
In 1944, the city's economy was given another boost when the Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company built 
an impressive plant in North Topeka. The presence of the Forbes Air Base south of downtown from the 
late-1940s through the 1960s further contributed to the population growth and renewed expansion and 
annexation of residential sectors of Topeka. By 1950, the corporate limits of Topeka encompassed 12.5 
square miles, with the population reaching 78,791.5 An "annexation fever" swept across Topeka during 
the 1950s, more than doubling the area of the City to 36.4 square miles by 1960.6 
 
As the City expanded, distinct neighborhoods and wayside commercial corridors emerged. This is 
especially the case in South Topeka Neighborhoods, where the HTK Architects Office Building is located. 
With the exception of a few scattered additions and neighborhoods, the area within which the office 
building is located remained predominantly rural until after World War II when the postwar baby boom and 
"annexation fever" expanded the city's suburban neighborhoods. The Shunganunga Creek runs through 
the area a short distance north of the property. Four large parks (Felker, Wells, Warren, and Big Sunga), 
totaling more than 300 acres, are located within the South Topeka Neighborhood area. The area consists 
of post-war and later subdivisions, apartment complexes, schools, and several churches. Light 
commercial and office buildings are located along the busier thoroughfares. Constructed in 1966, the HTK 
Architects Office Building and its associated neighborhood are indicative of the post-World War II 
suburban expansion of the city of Topeka and its continued development through the 1960s.  
 
Architecture7 
 
Topeka boasts an impressive collection of Modernist architecture, including a wide range of building types 
and distinct stylistic influences. The multitude of Mid-Century Modern buildings in Topeka is attributed not 
only to the "annexation fever" of the post-war period but also the 1951 Flood, an F-5 tornado that 
destroyed much of the City in 1966, and Urban Renewal programs. Collectively, these four events greatly 
impacted the City's built environment, with much of the new construction adopting the popular Modernist 
principles of the era. The HTK Architects Office Building is indicative of the impressive expansion of the 
City throughout the mid-20th century. Although the 1966 tornado passed just north of the property, the 
construction of the building does not appear to be a result of the tornado. 
 

 
3 Emily Pettis, et al., A Model for Identifying and Evaluating the Historic Significance of Post-World War II Housing, 
Washington, DC: Mead & Hunt for the Transportation Research Board, 2013; p.49. 
4 Kenneth T. Jackson, Crabgrass Frontier. The Suburbanization of the United States, New York: Oxford University 
Press, 1985; p.283. 
5 Topeka Capital-Journal, “Topeka at 150: Celebrating the Sesquicentennial of the Capital City of Kansas,” Topeka 
Capital-Journal, 2004. 
6 Topeka Capital-Journal, “Topeka at 150: Celebrating the Sesquicentennial of the Capital City of Kansas,” Topeka 
Capital-Journal, 2004. 
7 The majority of the Architectural Context is taken from the Mid-Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential 
Architecture in Topeka: 1945-1975 Multiple Property Documentation Form, prepared by Jaime Destefano, the author 
of this nomination. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

Modern Architecture, or Mid-Century Modern, might be considered an umbrella term used for resources 
sharing characteristics commonly occurring in post-World War II American architecture, particularly in 
commercial and institutional buildings. Changes in construction methods, materials, and styles 
characterized post-World War II era architecture nationwide. Among the common design elements 
characterizing Mid-Century Modern architecture is the general rejection of ornamentation and references 
to historical precedents. Building materials and methods reflect technological advancements of the age 
and emphasize function over form, and "design based on expressing structure and use."8 Concrete 
became a primary building material, including pre-cast, aggregate, and pre-stressed. Aluminum and 
stainless steel were favored over other metals due to their durability and sleekness.  
 
Modernist architecture would "convey meaning by the very lack of ornament."9 It was an era marked by a 
transformation from classical symbolism and masonry massing towards steel and glass construction to 
"celebrate innovation, freedom, and flexibility."10 Although references to the past were generally avoided, 
classical traditions often endured or evolved.  
 
Modernism has its roots in the International Style as it evolved in Europe during the 1920s. Modernism 
grew out of the art and architectural reform movements that came together in the Bauhaus School of 
Design in Weimer, Germany. The Bauhaus sought to steer artists and architects towards the “building of 
the future." This philosophy carried strong associations with political reforms, socialism, and mandates to 
embrace the machine age.11  
 
It was not until the Post-World War II era that American architects began embracing Modernism. 
According to Meghan Hogan's The Future of Modern, the Movement was a "salute to the postwar era 
itself, spearheaded by architectural giants such as Mies van der Rohe, Eero Saarinen, and Philip 
Johnson. At the height of its popularity, the sweeping curves, sheets of glass, and absence of ornament 
signaled change."12 Following the War, the increased use of industrially-produced materials and building 
components ultimately led to the adoption of a "machine" aesthetic in building design that is evident 
among a variety of Mid-Century  Modern styles and sub-styles. Ultimately, in the United States, the 
"advanced technologies and the development of pre-fabricated materials, combined with Urban Renewal 
programs at the federal, state, and local levels, greatly impacted the social changes, design innovations, 
and expressive influences on the built environment."13  
 
Modernist design in Topeka generally falls into two umbrella philosophies – conservative and radical. 
Sub-styles embracing conservative Modernism include the International Style and New Formalism. 
Radical Modernist, which gained popularity by the late-1950s, include Neo-Expressionism, Brutalism, and 
Googie. The HTK Architects Office Building is a later representation of conservative Modernist design. 
The building reflects elements drawn from the International Style and the Bauhaus philosophies. By this 
point, both Gropius and Breuer were practicing and teaching at the Harvard Graduate School of Design 
(GSD) and influencing an entire generation of Architects.  
 
The International Style was popular nationwide from the 1940s through the 1970s, becoming the standard 
for American commercial and institutional design.14 The style emphasized technology and expression of 

 
8 Peter Meijer Architect, “Thematic Survey of Modern Movement Non-Residential Architecture, 1945-1975, in St. 
Louis City,” City of Saint Louis Cultural Resources Office, 2013; p.14. 
9 Rifkind p.104 
10 Rifkind p.104. 
11 Jonathan and Donna Fricker, “Oil and Gas Building National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form,” 
National Park Service, 2013; page 8. 
12 Megan Hogan, “the Future of Modern: Federal Architecture in an Era of Change,” in Common Ground (Spring 
2009), p.28 
13 Peter Meijer Architect, “Thematic Survey of Modern Movement Non-Residential Architecture, 1945-1975, in St. 
Louis City,” City of Saint Louis Cultural Resources Office, 2013; p. 
14 Jonathan and Donna Fricker, “Louisiana Architecture: 1945-1965, Modernist Triumphant – Commercial and 
Institutional Buildings, September 2009, revised February 2010. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

construction methods, materials, exposed structural elements, and simplicity of form. It is from the 
International style that other Modernist styles, or sub-styles, are derived. Identifying features of the 
International style include the use of modern structural materials (concrete, glass, and steel), flat roof, 
balance and regularity, ribbon windows and glass curtain walls, and the general rejection of non-essential 
decoration. Other important features include the occasional skeleton-frame construction, the juxtaposition 
of materials, metal mullions, and smooth spandrel panels separating large, single-pane windows between 
floors. The majority of Modernist buildings in Topeka reflect some degree of International Style design 
features.  
 
Constructed in 1966, the HTK Architects Office Building was built during the later years of the Modern 
Movement and adopts a variety of the stylistic influences of the International Style. The International Style 
is visible in the overall functionality of the building, its simple boxy form, flat roof, curtain wall, reinforced 
concrete exterior, and substantial use of glass.  
 
The building is best characterized by its International Style influences and its emphasis on the integration 
of Bauhaus principles of design. The walls of sliding glass doors not only provide considerable natural 
lighting to the interior but are a deliberate attempt to design a workspace where the exterior walls could 
quite literally be moved, inviting the outdoors inside. The bush-hammered concrete exterior walls at the 
basement level and the use of cedar cladding on the first floor, further the natural aesthetic of the 
building. The same exterior cedar siding is used on interior walls – another "organic" design element used 
to bring the outdoors in. The use of exterior bush hammered corduroy concrete walls at the basement 
also creates the appearance of stone walls with the wood-clad first floor cantilevered above. Additional 
International Style-inspired design elements include zones distinguished by exterior material (wood 
versus concrete) and walls extending beyond the building to create privacy for employees to enjoy the 
outdoor space. Finally, the overall design of the building includes a raised planting bed along the front 
façade with a wooden walkway and bridge crossing over. An original Japanese garden was replaced with 
a modern concrete patio and fire pit. The stone bridge at the rear of the property, which spans multiple 
property lines, further reflects the builder's attempt to encourage people to enjoy a natural park-like 
setting between office buildings. The office building, along with original landscape elements, retain a high 
degree of integrity.  
 
HTK Architects occupied the office building at 2900 SW MacVicar for nearly 50 years before relocating to 
a large office downtown. In 2013, the building was acquired by Henry McClure. In 2016, Golden Rule 
Remodeling acquired the property, undertaking an impressive restoration of the building and property that 
honored the original architects' historic design and landscape elements. 
 
The HTK Architects Office Building is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under 
Criterion C for Architecture. The building remains in its original location and retains its historic integrity 
and character-defining features. The building meets the eligibility requirements for Small Office Buildings 
as outlined in the Mid-Century Modern, Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka. 
 
HTK Architects 
 
HTK Architects began in 1958 when Glen Horst and Joe Terrill first opened H&T Architects in downtown 
Topeka. A few years later, Gary Karst joined the firm, and it became HTK Architects. There first education 
project was the Sunny Elevation Elementary School in Topeka (presently Auburn Washburn District 
Office), completed in 1959. Since 1958, HTK has been a leading architectural firm in Topeka and 
throughout Kansas, designing a wide range of buildings from civic, corporate, healthcare, public 
education, higher education, military, religious, and sports facilities. Today, the firm has more than 30 
employees. Among the numerous buildings designed by the firm during the Modernist period include the 
Prudential and State Farm Insurance Office Building (KHRI #177-4825) in 1960, the American Savings 
Bank (KHRI #177-4834) in 1960, and an office building at 3310 SW Harrison Street (KHRI #177-4864) 
c.1965, as well as many others.  
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

9.  Major Bibliographical References  

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)      
 
Destefano, Jaime L., Mid-Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka: 1945-
1975 Multiple Property Documentation Form, prepared for the City of Topeka, 2019-2020. 
 
Falk, Bryan, Falk Architects, "2209 SW 29th Street National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form," 
National Park Service, August 2019. 
 
Ford, Susan. "Country Club Addition Neighborhood Historical Survey and Report," prepared for the City of 
Topeka, Kansas, March 5, 2018. 
 
Jackson, Kenneth T., Crabgrass Frontier. The Suburbanization of the United States, New York: Oxford 
University Press, 1985. 
 
Pettis, Emily et al., A Model for Identifying and Evaluating the Historic Significance of Post-World War II 
Housing, Washington, DC: Mead & Hunt for the Transportation Research Board, 2013. 
 
Topeka Capital-Journal, "Topeka at 150: Celebrating the Sesquicentennial of the Capital City of Kansas," 

Topeka Capital-Journal, 2004. 
 
 
Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data: 

 preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67 has been  State Historic Preservation Office 
 requested)   Other State agency 
 previously listed in the National Register  Federal agency 
 previously determined eligible by the National Register  Local government 
 designated a National Historic Landmark  University 
 recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey   #____________  Other 

 recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # __________   Name of repository:     
 recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # ___________    
Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

10.  Geographical Data                                                               
 
Acreage of Property  Less than one 
 
 
Provide latitude/longitude coordinates OR UTM coordinates.  
(Place additional coordinates on a continuation page.) 
 
Latitude/Longitude Coordinates  
Datum if other than WGS84: ____________ 
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 
 
1  39.014614   -95.70606  3       
 Latitude:  Longitude:      Latitude: 

 
Longitude: 

2      4       
 Latitude: Longitude: 

 
    Latitude:  Longitude: 

 
OR 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

UTM References 
    NAD 1927     or     NAD 1983 
 
1          3        
 Zone 

 
Easting 
 

Northing Zone 
 

Easting 
 

Northing 
 

2         4         
 Zone 

 
Easting 
 

Northing 
 

 Zone 
 

Easting 
 

Northing 
 

 
 
Verbal Boundary Description (describe the boundaries of the property) 
Located in the Moss subdivision in the Southwest Topeka Area neighborhood, Block A, Lot 7+ 
and N70 of Lot 8, in Section 13, Township 12, Range 15. Beginning at the northeast corner of 
the lot at SW 29th Street and thence southeasterly 195 feet, thence southwesterly 60 feet. The 
boundary then continues in a southerly direction for approximately 70 feet. The boundary then 
travels west approximately 112 feet to form the southern boundary of the property. The boundary 
then travels in a northerly direction approximately 252 feet to the northwest corner of the 
property. The boundary then travels 24 feet in an easterly direction along SW 29th Street to the 
point of beginning. 
 
 
Boundary Justification (explain why the boundaries were selected)  
 
The nominated boundary includes the entire parcel which is historically associated with the HTK 
Architects Office Building. 
 
     
11. Form Prepared By  

name/title  Jaime L. Destefano, MSHP 

organization JLD Preservation Consulting LLC date July 21, 2020 

street & number  PO Box 445 telephone  404-694-2066 

city or town   Fentress state TX  zip code  78622 

e-mail JLD.PreservationConsulting@gmail.com 
 
     
Property Owner:  (complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO)  

name Matt Vicent, Golden Rule Remodeling 

street & number  2900 SW MacVicar Avenue telephone 785-232-2439 

city or town   Topeka state Kansas zip code 66611 

 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic 
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response 
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 
et seq.). 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including  
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form.  Direct comments regarding 
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
 
Additional Documentation 
Submit the following items with the completed form: 
 
Photographs 

Submit clear and descriptive photographs.  The size of each digital image must be 1600x1200 pixels 
(minimum), at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger.  Key all photographs to a sketch map or aerial map. 
Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to the photograph number on 
the photo log.  For simplicity, the name of the photographer, photo date, etc. may be listed once on 
the photograph log and doesn't need to be labeled on every photograph. 
 
Photograph Log 
Name of Property:  HTK Architects Office Building 
City or Vicinity:  Topeka 
County: Shawnee State:  Kansas 
Photographer:  Jaime Destefano, MSHP 
Date Photographed: November 13, 2019 
 
Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of 
camera: 
 
1 of 20. Front Façade (South Elevation), photographer facing north 
2 of 20. Front Façade (South Elevation), photographer facing north 
3 of 20. Southeast Oblique, photographer facing northwest 
4 of 20. Southwest Oblique, photographer facing northeast 
5 of 20. Northwest Oblique, photographer facing southeast 
6 of 20. North Elevation, photographer facing south 
7 of 20. East Oblique, photographer facing northwest 
8 of 20. Raised Plant Beds along Front Façade (south elevation), photographer facing west 
9 of 20. Rear patio, stone retaining wall, and stone bridge, photographer facing northeast 
10 of 20. Interior reception, photographer facing northeast 
11 of 20. Interior reception and waiting lobby, photographer facing southeast 
12 of 20. Conference Room, photographer facing southeast 
13 of 20. Front Office, photographer facing southeast 
14 of 20. Drafting Room, photographer facing northwest 
15 of 20. Drafting Room, photographer facing east 
16 of 20. Drafting Room, photographer facing southwest 
17 of 20. Work Room Cabinetry, photographer facing southwest 
18 of 20. Hall and Kitchenette, photographer facing northeast 
19 of 20. Basement, photographer facing northwest 
20 of 20. Basement – Modern Kitchen and Small Room Additions, photographer facing  

south 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

Figures 
 Include GIS maps, figures, scanned images below. 
 

a. HTK Architects in Front of Their New Office Building, 1966 
b. Topographic Map 
c. Enlarged Topographic Map 
d. Aerial Map 
e. Enlarged Aerial Map with Building Coordinates 
f. Site Plan showing Exterior Photograph Locations 
g. Interior Floor Plan with Photograph Locations – First Floor 
h. Interior Floor Plan with Photograph Locations - Basement 
i. 1966 Architect Rendering 
j. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Site Plan 
k. Construction Drawing, 1966 – First Floor Plan 
l. Door Schedule and Room Finish Schedule 
m. Construction Drawing, 1966 - Foundation Plan 
n. Construction Drawing, 1966 – First Floor Framing Plan 
o. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Exterior Elevations 
p. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Typical Wall Section 
q. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Entrance Stair Detail 
r. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Aluminum Sliding Glass Door Details 
s. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Interior Door Detail 
t. Construction Drawing, 1966 – East Elevation of East Storage Unit with Kitchenette 
u. Construction Drawing, 1966 – West Elevation of West Storage Unit 
v. Construction Drawing, 1966 – East Elevation of Workroom Cabinets 
w. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Beam & Columns Details 

 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
A. 1966 Photograph of HTK Architects in Front of Their New Office Building, 1966 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 

 
B. Topographic Map – Overview 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C. Enlarged Topographic Map Showing Building Location 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 

 
D. Google Earth Aerial Photograph – Overview 

 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
E. Parcel Bounding with Building Coordinates and Aerial Underlay 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
 

 
F. Site Plan with Exterior Photograph Locations 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic 
Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 

 
G. Original Interior Floor Plan (1966) with Photographs  

Changes: The entry door was shifted forward to accommodate small lobby; Conference 
Room and Office locations changed



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 

 
H. Sketch Map of Basement with Interior Photographs 

 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
I. Architect Rending of HTK Architects Office Building, 1966 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
J. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Site Plan 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
K. Construction Drawing, 1966 – First Floor Plan 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
L. Door Schedule and Room Finish Schedule 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
M. Construction Drawing,, 1966 - Foundation Plan 

 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
N. Construction Drawing, 1966 – First Floor Framing Plan 

 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
O. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Exterior Elevations 

 
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
P. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Typical Wall Section 

 
 
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
Q. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Entrance Stair Detail 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
R. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Aluminum Sliding Glass Door Details 

 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
S. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Interior Door Detail 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
 

T. Construction Drawing, 1966 – East Elevation of East Storage Unit with Kitchenette 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
 

 
U. Construction Drawing, 1966 – West Elevation of West Storage Unit 

 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
V. Construction Drawing, 1966 – East Elevation of Workroom Cabinets



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 

 
W. Construction Drawing, 1966 – Beam & Columns Details 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018      
 

HTK Architects Office Building  Shawnee, Kansas 
Name of Property        County and State 
 

 
 

 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for nominations to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.). We may not conduct or sponsor and you are not 
required to respond to a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for each response using this form is estimated to be between the Tier 1 and Tier 4 levels with 
the estimate of the time for each tier as follows: 
 

Tier 1 – 60-100 hours 
Tier 2 – 120 hours 
Tier 3 – 230 hours 
Tier 4 – 280 hours 

 
The above estimates include time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and preparing and transmitting nominations. Send 
comments regarding these estimates or any other aspect of the requirement(s) to the Service Information Collection Clearance Officer, National Park 
Service, 1201 Oakridge Drive Fort Collins, CO 80525. 

 
 

 



NPS Form 10-900    OMB No. 1024-0018 
United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

1 

National Register of Historic Places Registration Form
This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How 
to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not 
applicable."  For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. 
Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative items on continuation sheets if needed (NPS Form 10-900a).  

1. Name of Property

Historic name  Evergreen Court Apartments 

Other names/site number Limerick Rowhouses; KHRI #177-3175 

Name of related Multiple Property Listing NA 

2. Location

Street & number  3311-3321 SW 10th Ave NA   not for publication 

City or town  Topeka NA    vicinity 

State  Kansas Code KS County Shawnee Code SN Zip code 66604 

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, 
I hereby certify that this    x    nomination     _ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards 
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.  
In my opinion, the property   x _ meets     _ does not meet the National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property 
be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance: 

 national  statewide  X   local  Applicable National Register Criteria:  A  B      X   C      ___D 

Signature of certifying official/Title Patrick Zolner, Deputy SHPO        Date 

Kansas State Historical Society 
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 

In my opinion, the property   meets  does not meet the National Register criteria. 

Signature of commenting official             Date 

Title State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 
4. National Park Service Certification
I hereby certify that this property is: 

 entered in the National Register  determined eligible for the National Register            

      determined not eligible for the National Register         removed from the National Register 

 other (explain:)       _________________ 

  Signature of the Keeper Date of Action 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

2 
 

 

5. Classification  
 
Ownership of Property 
(Check as many boxes as apply.) 

Category of Property 
(Check only one box.) 

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.) 
 

    Contributing Noncontributing  
X private X building(s) 1 0 buildings 
 public - Local  district   sites 
 public - State  site   structures 
 public - Federal  structure   objects 
   object 1 0 Total 

 
 
  Number of contributing resources previously 

listed in the National Register 

  N/A 
                                             
6. Function or Use                                                                      

Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.)  

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

DOMESTIC: multiple dwelling  DOMESTIC: multiple dwelling 

   

   

   

   

   

   
 
   
7. Description 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

 Materials  
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

LATE 19TH AND EARLY 20TH CENTURY 

REVIVALS: Mission/Spanish colonial  foundation: CONCRETE 

  walls: BRICK 

   TERRA COTTA 

  roof: SYNTHETIC (RUBBER) 

  other: CLAY TILES 

    
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

3 
 

Narrative Description 
(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe contributing and 
noncontributing resources, if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general 
characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, Style, method of construction, setting, size, and significant 
features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.)   
 
Summary  
 
Located at 3311-3321 SW 10th Street in Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, the Evergreen Apartment building is 
surrounded by the main thoroughfare of 10th Street to the north, residential development to the west and south, and 
minimal commercial development to the east. Constructed in the Spanish Revival style, the building is a rectangular 
single-story brick-masonry building (mimicking rowhouses) and holds eleven one-bedroom units. The property is long and 
narrow with shorter north and south boundaries. The building runs parallel to the main thoroughfare and sits on the lot 
with some tree coverage. A few character-defining features are the terra cotta accents, decorative arched pediments over 
the entries, and tile roof. The building is maintained and in good condition, though there were updates to the property and 
units in the early 1980s. Most of the original materials are intact, with some exceptions in the kitchens and bathrooms. 
The building retains its historic location, setting, design, workmanship, feeling, and association.  
 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
Elaboration  
 
Setting and Location 
The Evergreen Court Apartments are located at 3311-3321 SW 10th Street in Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas. 
Approximately three miles west of downtown Topeka, the Evergreen is surrounded by dense early-twentieth-century 
residential development. The predominant real estate along 10th St. are single-family homes and small businesses. One-
half mile to the west is Gage Park, a large city park, Topeka Zoo, and a contemporary shopping center. The apartments sit 
on a slight hill in the northeast corner of the Frazier Subdivision. The property faces 10th Street, previously K-10 Highway, 
on the north.1 The street runs east to west. The site offers a commanding presence due to its grade above street level. 
The parcel is ell-shaped with the apartments on the short end facing north with rear entrances and a sidewalk on the 
south side. To the east of the building, running perpendicular are a paved driveway and parking lot for the tenants. 
Topographically, the location is hilly with minor shifts in elevation and features grassland and potted trees and vegetation 
areas. The front yard has a long row of hardwood trees that parallel the street. There is also a new contemporary sign for 
the northeast corner apartments next to the front driveway. The sign is illuminated for night viewing.  
 
Overview 
The Evergreen Court Apartments is a one-story, brick masonry building that holds eleven one-bedroom apartments. It 
reflects the Spanish Eclectic Style of architecture that was prevalent in the 1920s and 1930s. The front of the apartments 
faces the north. Since the building is above the street level, there is a stair that leads up to each unit. The entire building is 
made of buff-colored brick with terra cotta accents. Topeka is dotted with other Spanish Revival Architecture examples, 
but the Evergreen Court Apartments are a good example of multi-family low-rise apartments. Typical of the Spanish 
Revival style is the use of columns, tile, and archways. The Evergreen has a few of these elements with square columns 
and capitols made of contrasting red brick. The openings are accented with decorative wooden archway pediments and 
terra cotta caps on the low peaked parapet above each door, typical features of the Spanish Revival style. All of the 
windows are original double-hung wood. The apartments were constructed in 1937 in the Depression-era, and so the 
usual and sometimes flamboyant decorative elements are minimal and more reflective of Spanish Revival than Mission 
Revival. Due to the restrictions in materials, the economy, and construction costs, the building uses articulated and small 
details to display the Spanish Revival style. The building is an uncommon example of the Spanish Revival style used for 
multi-unit residences in the area.  
 
Exterior 
The building has a single flat roof that slopes slightly to the south (rear), which is hidden behind an elaborate parapet on 
three sides. As viewed from the west, north, and east, the roofline is irregular and changes as it passes over each unit in a 
rhythmic pattern. Each unit’s entrance is framed by brick pilasters rising to the top of the door, capped with a stylized red-

 
1 Kansas State Highway System Showing Route Numbers and Construction Progress, Kansas State Highway Commission. 

Topeka, Kansas 1934. On collection at the Kansas State Archives, DaRT ID: 223493. Accessed April 2020.  



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

4 
 

brick pattern, and then the roofline. Above the doors rest wooden decorative archway pediments. The parapet rises to a 
high point between each unit, with a low peak topped by terra cotta caps. Between these high points are low points 
topped with green glazed barrel tiles. This pattern is replicated across the building's north façade and wraps around the 
west and east sides. On either side of the raised panel door entries along the north elevation is a set of paired double-
hung windows. Each unit has a storm door, not original to the building. The terra cotta accents are a diamond shape with 
a rectangle below pattern on either side of each unit's door and top framing. The decorative elements include pointed and 
rounded features in the Spanish Revival Style, walls capped in terra cotta and Spanish tile, and rain outlets made of metal 
and tile.  
 
The west side of the building runs along Frazier St. and reveals the true shape and width of the construction. The west 
elevation conceals a slightly sloping roofline behind the masonry parapet capped with Spanish tile. The parapet on the 
west and throughout the building are approximately two to three feet above the roof. On this building, the details found in 
the parapets are key to defining the Spanish Revival architecture. The west elevation contains two double-hung wood 
windows for Unit #1, a row of gas meters, one for each unit. A contemporary wrought iron fence with a large gate and 
masonry corner posts was constructed along the property's west side. The wrought iron fence runs from the apartment 
building’s northwest corner, then makes a turn to the south at the first corner post and proceeds to the gate post along 
Frazier St. From the gate, the fence continues to run parallel along Frazier St. until it reaches the south property line 
terminating in a final brick pier.  
 
The south or rear elevation offers a simpler motif and is shorter than the front. Additionally, the rear elevation has fewer 
decorative elements than the front, and there are only three windows per unit. Each unit has a back entrance consisting of 
a simple metal door with raised panels. Above the doors are light fixtures that appear to be original. On the southeast 
corner is a chimney to vent the HVAC and water heating units; it is made of structural clay tiles. Along the south side of 
the property, the fence continues until it meets a gate at the building's southeast corner. Then the fence follows the edge 
of the parking lot on the east side to the back of the property. Having the rear of the property enclosed by the fence 
creates a courtyard-like setting and appearance. Mailboxes hang at each front door and are small metal hanging boxes 
painted black.  
 
The east elevation is similar to the physical features of the west elevation. This includes overall design, materials, and the 
two windows for Unit #11. Along the east side are steps leading to a basement entrance made of simple concrete with 
steel pipe railing. The basement entry door is made of steel and painted. The basement itself has concrete walls and 
concrete flooring. The northeast corner of the apartments to the eastern property line is a driveway and parking lot for the 
tenants and guests. When originally constructed, the Evergreen Court Apartments had a line of wooden carports for the 
residents. At some time in the 1980s, the current owner had the carports torn down due to rot and termite damage. The 
existing driveway and parking lot are not included within the nominated boundaries, as they are not related to the 
building's architectural significance.  
 
At the far south end of the parcel are an open field and a large storage building not included within the nominated property 
boundary because they are not associated with the apartments (Figure 1). However, for a brief period, the apartment 
caretaker resided there. The storage building was constructed in 1921, sixteen years before the Evergreen Court 
Apartments were constructed.2 It served in various capacities through the years, once maintained as a mechanics 
workshop, for a short time the caretaker’s cottage, and mostly a storage facility for antique automobiles. Due to the lack of 
association or significance with the Apartments, the parcel's southern half is considered separate and outside the 
nominated boundary.3 
 
 
Interior Space 
All eleven units have the same one-bedroom layouts: a kitchen, large combination living/dining room, single bedroom, and 
full bath, except unit 11, which is flipped. All units feature the same finishes with lath & plaster walls, white pine molding 
and baseboards, pine trim around windows and doors, and red oak floors. The rear entrance opens directly into the galley 
kitchen with the appliances and sink are on the western half of the room, along with a white pine pantry that extends from 
floor to ceiling. The kitchen cabinets are modern wood with laminate countertops and were undated sometime in the 
1980s. The kitchens retain their original doors, casements, and butler’s closets. Electrical outlets are underneath the 
kitchen cabinets.  

 
2 Paris, Tim, City Planner with the City of Topeka. Interview by David Swindell. Personal interview. Topeka, Kansas, 11 April 

2019. 
3 Sanborn Map Company. Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, 1913, Vol 1&2. Amended 1932,1935,1941,1942,1945.  



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

5 
 

 
To the north of the kitchen is a combination living/dining room. There are four windows in this room, two double-hung pairs 
flank the front door. In the south wall that separates the kitchens from the living rooms sits a built-in telephone table. On 
the south side of the living room is a pair of large French doors that lead to a single bedroom. The doors are constructed 
from yellow pine and give a degree of grace and sophistication to each unit. Opposite the doors, along the south wall of 
the building, is a set of double-hung windows. Unit #1 has one additional window on the west wall. Some of the bedrooms 
have their original light fixtures, while others have modern replacements.  
 
Along the east wall of the bedroom is the doorway to the bathroom. All of the bathrooms have the same basic floor plan, 
with only a slight difference. The vanities and casements are original to the building, made from the same yellow pine that 
runs throughout the units. Modern shower attachments were added in some of the units, and this was done in the last 
five-ten years. Not all of the sinks, toilets, and tubs seem to match in all of the units, and appear to have been changed as 
needed. There is a single-window over the tub. The bathroom floor consists of single-color linoleum. Most of the units 
have tile or laminate coverings on the walls. The original vanities are still intact, while the moldings and light fixtures 
appear to be original or historic replacements.  
 
Overall Condition and Alterations 
Throughout the years, the weather and regular wear and tear have taken their toll on the Evergreen. However, because of 
excellent materials and craftsmanship and proper maintenance through the years, the effects of deterioration remained 
quite minimal. Previous property owners employed a caretaker (for a short period) or hired competent professionals to 
make repairs. All existing windows are original double-hung wood and are deteriorating. Most need to be repainted, 
glazed, and weather-stripped. There are aluminum storm windows currently in place, installed sometime in the 1980s; 
they need to be cleaned and painted. There is minor deterioration in the masonry of the chimney that needs repointing. 
The screen windows are in disrepair and need to be cleaned, painted, and fixed as appropriate. Most of the original 
hardwood floors are in good condition. Eventually, all electrical and plumbing will be upgraded. These repairs are typical 
for a building this size and age. In the 1980s, most of the kitchens and some bathrooms were updated and now contain 
1980s cabinetry, fixtures, and faucets.  
 
Integrity 
The Evergreen Court Apartments retain a high degree of all seven aspects of integrity. While the integrity of design and 
materials have been modified in the kitchens and bathrooms, these modifications are common and acceptable changes. 
Its historic identity is clearly conveyed by retaining the original character-defining features like the door archways, tile roof, 
and terra cotta accents. The building is in its original location and setting and maintaining its historic workmanship, feeling, 
and association. It is an excellent example of a Spanish Revival style apartment building in Topeka, Kansas.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

6 
 

8. Statement of Significance 
 
Applicable National Register Criteria  
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National 
Register listing.) 
 

 A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history.  

 B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 
  

   

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics  
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high 
artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.  

   

 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history.  

   
 
Criteria Considerations  
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 
Property is: 
 

A 
 

 
Owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes.  

 
 

B 
 
removed from its original location. 

 
 

C 
 
a birthplace or grave. 

 
 

D 
 
a cemetery. 

 
 

E 
 
a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

 
 

F 
 
a commemorative property. 

 
 

G 
 
less than 50 years old or achieving significance 

  within the past 50 years. 

 
Areas of Significance  

ARCHITECTURE 

 

 

 

 

 
Period of Significance  

1936-1937 

 

 
Significant Dates 

 

 

 
Significant Person  
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 
 

Cultural Affiliation 

 

 

Architect/Builder 

unknown 

 

 

 

 
Period of Significance (justification) 
The period of significance consists of 1936-1937 as those are the years of construction. The Evergreen Court Apartments 
is eligible for listing as a good example of the Spanish Revival Style, so its significance is derived from its construction. 
 
 
Criteria Considerations (justification) 
N/A 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

7 
 

Narrative Statement of Significance 
(Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of 
significance, and any applicable criteria considerations.) 
 
Summary  
The Evergreen Court Apartments, constructed in 1937, are eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places 
under Criterion C for architecture. The building is an excellent local example of the Spanish Revival style, which is 
classified as a Late 19th to Early 20th Century style occurring between 1915-1940. The building retains a high level of 
integrity on the exterior and interior, which portrays its original design and construction. Its period of significance are the 
years of construction 1936-7. Key features of the property are its pedimented archways, tile roofing, and terra cotta 
accents. The Evergreen Court Apartments are a good example of the type, period, and method of construction. The 
Spanish Revival style influenced by the revivals of the Arts and Crafts movement was popular at the time of 
construction. These Depression-era or inter-war apartment buildings were constructed out of necessity for affordable 
housing and were designed to be simple and utilitarian. Sitting in its original setting, the building remains in its original 
location and retains its historic integrity and character-defining features.    
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
Elaboration  
 
Brief History of Topeka 
Topeka, Kansas, is located in the northeast corner of the state in Shawnee County. It is a historic town established in 
1854, which grew from a small town in the Kansas Territory to the state capital in 1861. Topeka was a stop along 
multiple transportation routes like the Oregon and California Trails and was a terminus for the Atchison Topeka and 
Santa Fe Railroad in 1886. The Santa Fe Railroad built shops in Topeka and opened a hospital to serve their workforce 
In the years that followed, other railroads came to Topeka, including The Union Pacific, Rock Island, and Missouri 
Pacific. The city also hosted many light industrial businesses serving the railroads and agricultural customers. In the 
years after the Civil War, Topeka grew with service companies, providing insurance and banking. 
 
The City began annexing surrounding communities to “assist in ‘straightening’ Topeka’s irregular boundaries and street 
alignments,” in 1920.4 By 1921, Topeka had approved five boundary expansions, to the north, east, and west.5 At the 
start of 1920, the city’s population was 50,022; after the annexations and boundary increase, the population jumped 
28% to 64,120 by 1930.6 Topeka, during the Depression-era, was hit with the same economic misfortune as the rest of 
the country. The population grew slowly for the next decade, only increasing to 67,883 according to the U.S. Census 
data. There were layoffs at the Santa Fe Railroad shops and offices, which was a major employer. The State of Kansas 
reduced the size of its workforce. Also, some small businesses in the downtown district closed their doors. The first half 
of the 1930s in the city was somewhat downcast as people adjusted and tried to stay afloat economically and 
psychologically.  
 
By the mid-1930s, the economic situation in Topeka began to improve slightly. WPA projects at Sumner Elementary 
School in 1936 and Lake Shawnee in 1938, helped put needed money back into the community. These incentives, 
along with changes in banking and mortgage laws, helped people purchase homes or start new businesses. This 
economic activity helped push forward the demand for more clean, affordable apartments in the Topeka suburbs. In 
1937, Tressa H. Fish chose to invest in the future by building the Evergreen Court Apartments. 
 
Apartments and Housing in the 1930s 
By the close of the 1930s in America, several factors were at work that slowly changed the economic future of the nation. 
By 1937, the unemployment rate had fallen to 14.9% after a previous high of 24.9% in 1934.7 At the same time, several 

 
4 National Register of Historic Places, Fire Station No 7, Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, listed 2020; “Planning Board 

Would Add Territory to City Straightening Boundary.” The Topeka State Journal, June 15, 1921., p.1 
5 Ruth Keenoy, Survey Report Collins Park Topeka, Kansas: Intensive Neighborhood Survey - 2017/2018 (St. Louis, Missouri 

2018)  
6 National Register of Historic Places, Fire Station No 7, Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, listed 2020.  
7 Smiley, Gene. “Recent Unemployment Rate Estimates for the 1920s and 1930s.” The Journal of Economic History Vol 43. 

No 2 (June 1983, Cambridge University Press): p.3  



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

8 
 

New Deal banking reforms were beginning to make inroads into the housing industry. The government began changing 
lending laws and practices to help cut down on foreclosures and make refinancing more readily available for lower- and 
middle-class whites.8 The creation of the FHA loan program helped provide financial assistance through low-interest loans 
to qualified borrowers.9 “Historic policies such as redlining severely limited minority access to housing and financial tools 
and the long-term effect are still present today. Minorities and low-income households are more likely to be concentrated 
in areas with poor housing conditions.”10 This activity helped bring on local activity in Topeka and across the nation as 
builders put in orders for goods and services.11 The increase in demand for houses and multi-family units also pushed 
development into the suburbs at the same time transportation was becoming more affordable.12 All these economic forces 
coming together at the same time helped change patterns throughout the country. 
 
Before the onset of the automobile revolution in America, apartment units were often located in the core of most cities. 
This development came in response to the need for housing within easy walking distances to work and mass transit. 
Usually, these apartments in the inner city were vertical in construction due to the cost of land. The owners of these 
buildings also needed to pack families and individuals into tighter spaces to increase profitability. These conditions made 
life more difficult due to overcrowding and all the social issues associated with it.  
 
Communities began expanding with thoroughfares and parks influenced by the “City Beautiful” movement between 1890-
1920. During this period, the idea and design of architecture changed from an idyllic Victorian elegance to more utilitarian 
and economically feasible designs. The elaborate designs were simplified and made more accessible to the working-
class. Common multi-family structures were developed, holding around four to twelve units.13 “Apartment buildings began 
as tenement style structures most commonly found in large cities, after the turn of the century the idea of urbanization 
influenced smaller towns, thus bringing in affordable housing – through apartment buildings – into smaller communities.”14 
 
From 1880-1940, the eclectic or Arts and Crafts movement in architecture took place, which focused on quality and 
craftsmanship. It influenced residential housing and included the revival of classical styles that many Americans 
embraced. These new apartments were more horizontal, single-story structures in design. They had larger floor plans in 
some cases and more space for people to spread out. One additional factor made these units even more desirable -
having ample parking for cars. With a car, a person had the right to move out beyond bus and trolley lines. Also, the layout 
of the apartments near the street or highway, made it easier for folks to carry in groceries and children with fewer steps. 
Mailboxes were also situated so people could retrieve their mail quickly and return to their cars.  
 
Architecture: Spanish Eclectic/Revival Style 
The Evergreen Court Apartment building is eligible at the local level under Criterion C, as an excellent example of a low-
rise Spanish Revival style architecture in Topeka. The building features characteristics of the Depression-era apartment 
buildings using minimal ornamentation, it is a reasonable distance from downtown as a reflection of the City’s expansion 
period the decade before, and by providing the basic necessities of the era, a small one-room apartment with private 
kitchen and bathroom. Although common trends in larger American cities during the Depression-era may have occupied 
vertical space, rather than horizontal; the trend in Kansas at the time was to provide suitable, comfortable, and affordable 
living which happened to be on the outskirts of town. The buildings and architecture moved away from the large ornate 
and spacious structures that were unaffordable in a low economic time and focused on more utilitarian uses and practical 

 
8 Gross, Terry. “A ‘Forgotten History’ of How the U.S. Government Segregated America.” NPR May 3, 2017. Accessed April 

2020. https://www.npr.org/2017/05/03/526655831/a-forgotten-history-of-how-the-u-s-government-segregated-america 
9 Butkiewicz, James L. “Fixing the Housing Crisis.” Forbes April 30, 2009. Accessed April 2020. 

https://www.forbes.com/2009/04/30/1930s-mortgage-reform-business-butkiewicz.html?sh=156bc1ec9c02  
10 “Topeka Housing Market Study.” Prepared for City of Topeka, Kansas. February 2020. 
11 Mitchell P. James. NONFARM HOUSING STARTS 1899-1958. United States Department of Labor, Bulletin No.1260, 1959. 

p15-17. Accessed January 2020. https://fraser.stlouisfed.org/title/nonfarm-housing-starts-1889-1958-4543; Gottlieb, Manuel. Estimate 
of Residential Buildings, United States, 1840-1939. National Bureau of Economic Research, 1964. Chart 13, p.60. Accessed January 
2020. https://www.nber.org/system/files/chapters/c1790/c1790.pdf; Chase E. Arnold. & Schneider W. Walter. United States Department 
of Labor & United States Department of Commerce, 1954. Construction Volume and Costs, 1915-1956. Table 1 p1;  Wholesale Prices 
of Building Materials, Annual Indexes, 1915-56. P.58. Construction Contract Awards, Table 19. P. 61. 

12 Chandler, Alfred D. Jr. The Visible Hand: The Managerial revolution in American Business. The Belknap Press of Harvard 
University, 1977. P.244 & 280. 

13 National Register of Historic Places, Working-Class and Middle-Income Apartment Buildings in Kansas City, Missouri, 
Kansas City, Missouri. Reference #64500993, Section E, page 9 

14 National Register of Historic Places, Alfred Fete Apartments, Horton, Brown County, Kansas., p. 9  

https://www.npr.org/2017/05/03/526655831/a-forgotten-history-of-how-the-u-s-government-segregated-america
http://www.forbes.com/
https://www.forbes.com/2009/04/30/1930s-mortgage-reform-business-butkiewicz.html?sh=156bc1ec9c02
https://fraser.stlouisfed.org/title/nonfarm-housing-starts-1889-1958-4543
https://www.nber.org/system/files/chapters/c1790/c1790.pdf


United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

9 
 

design with small units and private baths. The inter-war years faced a shortage of affordable housing due to the 
expanding population but also the lack of materials and qualified builders. Several cities saw the demand grow, which 
then encouraged new affordable developments. “During this same period, the promotion of hygiene and sanitation – 
including running water and private toilets, health benefits from access to adequate sun, and proper ventilation – 
influenced the design of apartment buildings as well we the entire built environment.”15  
 
The Spanish Eclectic/Revival style was a common style during the early twentieth century along with other revival designs 
like Colonial, Mission, or Italian Renaissance. Before the style became popularized by Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue, the 
common location for the style was in Hispanic influenced areas like California, Florida, Texas, and Arizona. As the form 
expanded beyond the southwest and Florida, the style became simplified and less common.16 During World War II, 
architects traveled to Spain to learn of the typical characteristics and elements. Most important was the massing of 
buildings. Common attributes of this style are stucco or light-colored masonry structures, unglazed wall tiles, low-pitched 
roofs, tile roofs, archways over main doors and windows, low-relief carvings on windows and door trim, columns or 
pilasters, wrought iron or carved wood, and French doors.17 Evergreen Court Apartments are a good representation of the 
Spanish Revival style in which its key character-defining features include a symmetrical façade, tile roof accents, French 
doors on the interior, terra cotta accents, and decorative arched-pediments over the entry doors. The structure is of a buff-
brick construction, with tile and terra cotta accents, decorative arches, a flat roof behind a decorative parapet with 
rhythmic height changes, and simple wood trim on the doors, windows, and moldings.  
 
Currently, there are thirteen inventory records for historic buildings in Topeka that are designed in the Spanish 
Eclectic/Revival style. Several of the buildings are downtown commercial buildings constructed within the commercial core 
(Novelty Vaudeville Theater – demolished, 116 SE 8th Ave, Marks Building, 600 SW 10th St, Namar Building, and Pennant 
Building). A few others are residential properties still in the historic expansion areas of Topeka (Bullene-Endlich House, 
and Helen McClintock House). Two of the structures are Fire Stations built during the Depression-era as a response to the 
safety of the expanding city (Fire Station No 2 & No 7). The Evergreen Court Apartments is the only apartment building in 
the currently documented resources. It is a good example of the style and a representative of the style for use as multi-
family housing.  
 
Evergreen Court Apartments 
The properties around the Evergreen at the time of construction in 1937 resembled a sparsely settled urban community 
with many vacant lots.18 During that era, the region along 10th St.  had  a mixed rural and urban look. The appearance at 
the time was one with new construction along-side greenhouses to the east and the Ned Fleming Horse Ranch at 10th and 
Gage Blvd.19 This general area was the western edge of Topeka during the 1930s. Once completed in 1937, the 
Evergreen Court Apartments became home for professionals. From 1938 to 1940, the Evergreen hosted a Civil Engineer 
and a Construction Engineer.20 From the years 1942 to 1945, the Apartments were home to several federal and civil 
employees, including laborers, pipefitters, oilers, airways keepers, and other associated trades and crafts. These 
individuals were engaged in work during the operation of the Topeka Army Air Base, the supply depot and various defense 
contractors throughout and around the city.21 During the 1950s, several college students lived at the apartments.22   
 
The main driving force behind the Evergreen Court Apartments was Tressa H. Fish. She was a local real estate 
entrepreneur who had a keen passion for developing and renting properties. In 1922, she purchased the lots in the Frazier 
subdivision, where the current building now sits. After using the lots for collateral on other projects, Mrs. Fish finally 
decided to build on the site in 1936.23 Before the apartments were constructed, Mrs. Fish obtained 38 building permits to 
place refrigerated railroad cars on the 10th and Frazier property on February 9, 1936.24 However, the Topeka City 

 
15 National Register of Historic Places, Victor Court Apartments, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, Listed June 27, 2014., p 7 
16 Virginia Savage McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses (New York: Alfred A Knopf, 2013), 522. 
17 National Register of Historic Places, Victor Court Apartments, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, Listed June 27, 2014., p 8 
18 18 Sanborn Map Company. Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, 1942-45, Vol 2 p. 135.   
19 Ibid.  
20 Polk R.L. Polks Topeka Shawnee County, Kansas City Directory Kansas City: R.K. Polk & co. 1938. P.509, Polks 1940. 

p586.; Also 1940 U.S. Census. Note: the 1940 Census showed occupation, but not the employer. 
21 Polks. 1942.p.530 
22 Anderson, Nels. “A conversation with Nels Anderson.” Interview by David Swindell, (7 March 2019). 
23 Topeka State Journal (Topeka), 10 February 1936. 
24 Topeka State Journal (Topeka), 9 February 1936 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

10 
 

Commission blocked her move by invoking a city house moving ordinance.25 At this point, Mrs. Fish switched gears and 
came away with the same number –38 permits for small rental apartments. Of the 38 permits issued, only 11 units were 
built. Construction began in 1936, and the building was completed in 1937; based on the research for this nomination, no 
architect or designer was found.  
 
The Evergreen Court Apartments are designed in the Spanish Revival Style of the early 1900s. The Evergreen Court 
Apartment building is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion C for its architecture. 
By the 1930s, a definite population trend had taken place in the city of Topeka. Western and southern Topeka had 
grown the most as the city shifted and moved outwardly.26 Topeka opened Highway 40, the main thoroughfare through 
town in 1926, and Kansas State Highway 10 in 1929. By the middle 1930s, neighborhoods had grown as far southwest 
as 21st Street and Gage Boulevard.27  The Evergreen Court Apartments are a good example of the type, period, and 
method of construction. The Spanish Revival style influenced by the revivals of the Arts and Crafts movement was 
popular at the time of construction. These Depression-era or inter-war apartment buildings were constructed out of 
necessity for affordable housing and were designed to be simple and utilitarian. Sitting in its original setting, the building 
remains in its original location and retains its historic integrity and character-defining features.    
 
 
 
 
 

 
25 Topeka State Journal (Topeka), 9 February 1936 
26 Population. U.S. Note: According to the Census date, Topeka grew from 50,022 in 1920, to 54,120 in 1930, to 67,833 in 

1940.; Insurance Map of Topeka Kansas. New York: Sanborn Map co. 1913, Vol 1 & 2, amended 1932, 1935, 1941, 1942, 1945. Note: 
Notice the difference in the shaded areas in Range 2. Maps 3 & 4. 

27 Sanborn Map Company. Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, 1913, Vol 1&2. Amended 1932,1935,1941,1942,1945. Note: 
Notice the difference in the shaded areas in Range 2. Maps 3 & 4. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

11 
 

9. Major Bibliographical References  
Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)      
 

Anderson, Nels. “A conversation with Nels Anderson.” Interview by David Swindell, (7 March 2019). 

Butkiewicz, James L. “Fixing the Housing Crisis.” Forbes April 30, 2009. Accessed April 2020. 
https://www.forbes.com/2009/04/30/1930s-mortgage-reform-business-butkiewicz.html?sh=156bc1ec9c02 

Chandler, Alfred D. Jr. The Visible Hand: The Managerial revolution in American Business. The Belknap Press of Harvard 
University, 1977. P.244 & 280. 

Chase E. Arnold. & Schneider W. Walter. United States Department of Labor & United States Department of Commerce, 
1954. Construction Volume and Costs, 1915-1956. Table 1 p1; Wholesale Prices of Building Materials, Annual Indexes, 
1915-56. P.58. Construction Contract Awards, Table 19. P. 61. 

Gottlieb, Manuel. Estimate of Residential Buildings, United States, 1840-1939. National Bureau of Economic Research, 
1964. Chart 13, p.60. Accessed January 2020. https://www.nber.org/system/files/chapters/c1790/c1790.pdf.  

Gross, Terry. “A ‘Forgotten History’ of How the U.S. Government Segregated America.” NPR May 3, 2017. Accessed April 
2020. https://www.npr.org/2017/05/03/526655831/a-forgotten-history-of-how-the-u-s-government-segregated-america 

Kansas State Highway System Showing Route Numbers and Construction Progress, Kansas State Highway Commission. 
Topeka, Kansas 1934. On collection at the Kansas State Archives, DaRT ID: 223493. 

Mitchell P. James. NONFARM HOUSING STARTS 1899-1958. United States Department of Labor, Bulletin No.1260, 
1959. p15-17. Accessed January 2020. https://fraser.stlouisfed.org/title/nonfarm-housing-starts-1889-1958-4543. 

National Register of Historic Places, Alfred Fete Apartments, Horton, Brown County, Kansas., p. 9  

National Register of Historic Places, Fire Station No 7, Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, listed 2020. 

National Register of Historic Places, Victor Court Apartments, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, Listed June 27, 2014., 
p 7 

National Register of Historic Places, Working-Class and Middle-Income Apartment Buildings in Kansas City, Missouri, 
Kansas City, Missouri. Reference #64500993, Section E, page 9 

Paris, Tim, City Planner with the City of Topeka. Interview by David Swindell. Personal interview. Topeka, Kansas, 11 
April 2019. 

“Planning Board Would Add Territory to City Straightening Boundary.” The Topeka State Journal, June 15, 1921., p.1 

Polk Directory Topeka Shawnee County 

Polk Directory Kansas City  

Ruth Keenoy, Survey Report Collins Park Topeka, Kansas: Intensive Neighborhood Survey - 2017/2018 (St. Louis, 
Missouri 2018)  

Sanborn Map Company. Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, 1913, Vol 1&2. Amended 1932,1935,1941,1942,1945.  

Smiley, Gene. “Recent Unemployment Rate Estimates for the 1920s and 1930s.” The Journal of Economic History Vol 43. 
No 2 (June 1983, Cambridge University Press): p.3  

“Topeka Housing Market Study.” Prepared for City of Topeka, Kansas. February 2020. 

Topeka State Journal (Topeka). 

Virginia Savage McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses (New York: Alfred A Knopf, 2013), 522. 
 
 
Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data: 

 preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67 has been  State Historic Preservation Office 
 requested)   Other State agency 
 previously listed in the National Register  Federal agency 
 previously determined eligible by the National Register  Local government 
 designated a National Historic Landmark  University 

http://www.forbes.com/
https://www.forbes.com/2009/04/30/1930s-mortgage-reform-business-butkiewicz.html?sh=156bc1ec9c02
https://www.nber.org/system/files/chapters/c1790/c1790.pdf
https://www.npr.org/2017/05/03/526655831/a-forgotten-history-of-how-the-u-s-government-segregated-america
https://fraser.stlouisfed.org/title/nonfarm-housing-starts-1889-1958-4543


United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

12 
 

 recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey   #____________  Other 
 recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # __________   Name of repository:     
 recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # ___________    
Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): _____________________________________________________________________ 
 

10. Geographical Data                                                               
 
Acreage of Property Less than one 
 
 
Provide latitude/longitude coordinates OR UTM coordinates.  
(Place additional coordinates on a continuation page.) 
 
Latitude/Longitude Coordinates  
Datum if other than WGS84: __________ 
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 
 
1 95.7199347  39.0512246  3  95.7189445  39.0509785 
 Latitude:  Longitude:      Latitude: 

 
Longitude: 

2 95.7189409   39.0512158  4  95.7199485  39.0509800 
 Latitude: Longitude: 

 
    Latitude:  Longitude: 

 
Verbal Boundary Description (describe the boundaries of the property) 
The West 80 ½ feet of Lot No. 4 and all of Lots 5 and 6 in Frazier's subdivision of a part of the southwest quarter of 
Section 35, Township 11, South of Rowge 15, East of the 6th P.M., in Shawnee County, Kansas. The north boundary runs 
along lot line at 10th St, Frazier Ave lot line to the west, ten feet to the east of the apartment building (up to the driveway), 
and approximately 10 feet south from the back of the apartment and including the sidewalk.  
 
 
Boundary Justification (explain why the boundaries were selected)  
The following areas from lots 4,5, and 6 retain their integrity. This area contains the following boundaries:  to the north, 
10th St.; to the west, Frazier Ave.; to the east, the eastern end of the rowhouse next to the driveway entrance 
(approximately 10 feet); to the south, the sidewalk running parallel to the back entrances (approximately 10 feet). This 
boundary is limited to the apartment building alone as the significance of the property is its architectural style. Other 
historic features (carport, mailboxes) were previously removed circa 1980. The open land to the south beyond the parking 
lot is not associated with the apartments and has been used for other purposes over the years. The apartment is the last 
remaining property that retains historic integrity and is associated with the architectural significance.  
 
 
    
11. Form Prepared By  

name/title Mr. David Swindell (edits by KS-SHPO) 

organization  date   

street & number 932 SW Oakley Ave. telephone  785-233-8103 

city or town   Topeka state  Kansas zip code 66606 

e-mail russ932@att.net 
 
     
Property Owner: (complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO)  

name Don Hanrahan 

street & number  5530 SW West DR telephone  785-273-4160 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

13 
 

city or town   Topeka state KS zip code 66606 

 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.). 
 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including time for reviewing 
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of 
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
 
Additional Documentation 
Submit the following items with the completed form: 
 
 
Photographs 

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each digital image must be 1600x1200 pixels (minimum), at 
300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs to a sketch map or aerial map. Each photograph must be 
numbered, and that number must correspond to the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of 
the photographer, photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on every 
photograph. 
 
Photograph Log 
 

Name of Property: Evergreen Court Apartments 
City or Vicinity: Topeka 
County: Shawnee State: Kansas 
Photographer: Bryna Hanrahan 
Date Photographed: October 2020 
 
Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of camera: 
 

Photo 
Number View Description 

#1 W Overview of front façade 
#2 W Overview of front façade 
#3 W Overview of landscaping on the northside  
#4 S Closeup of entrance to a unit 
#5 E West façade 
#6 W East façade 
#7 -- Closeup of mailboxes and brickwork 
#8 NW View of typical living room toward exterior walls 
#9 SE View of typical living room toward bedroom 
#10 SW View of typical living room toward kitchen 
#11 NE View of typical living room toward interior wall 
#12 N View of kitchen and updated cabintry 
#13 S View of kitchen toward back entrance 
#14 N View of kitchen toward living room 
#15 NW View of bedroom toward living room 
#16 SE View of bedroom toward bathroom and back of building 
#17 SW View of bedroom toward back corner 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
     

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

14 
 

#18 NE View of bedroom toward living room, closet, and bathroom 
#19 SE View from bathroom door looking toward back of the building 
#20 SW View of finishes and bath toward interior wall and back of building 
#21 NE View of bathroom finishes including toilet and sink 
#22 N View from the farthest end of the parking lot looking toward street 
#23 S View looking into the parking lot from street 
#24 S View of ancillary building (on parcel, but not associated with apartments) 

 
 
 
 
Figures 

Include GIS maps, figures, scanned images below. 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

15 
 

 

Photo 1 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

16 
 

 

Photo 2 

 

Photo 3 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

17 
 

 

Photo 4 

 

Photo 5 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

18 
 

 

Photo 6 

 

Photo 7 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

19 
 

 

Photo 8 

 

Photo 9 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

20 
 

 

Photo 10 

 

Photo 11 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

21 
 

 

Photo 12 

 

Photo 13 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

22 
 

 

Photo 14 

 

Photo 15 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

23 
 

 

Photo 16 

 

Photo 17 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

24 
 

 

Photo 18 

 

Photo 19 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

25 
 

 

Photo 20 

 

Photo 21 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

26 
 

 

Photo 22 

 

Photo 23 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

27 
 

 

Photo 24 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

28 
 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900                                                    OMB No. 1024-0018  
       

Evergreen Court Apartments  Shawnee County, Kansas 
Name of Property              County and State 
 
 

29 
 

 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10‑900                                                    OMB No. 1024‑0018  
       

 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

Evergreen Court Apartments   Shawnee County, Kansas 

 28 

Key 

 Solid Wall 

 Sidewalk 

 Parking lot 

 Property Boundary 

            N 

Sketch Map—Not to Scale 

 

11 unit one-room with private kitchen & bath 

Paved parking lot 

sidewalk 

SW 10th Ave 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10‑900                                                    OMB No. 1024‑0018  
       

 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

Evergreen Court Apartments   Shawnee County, Kansas 

 29 

Key 

 Solid Wall 

 Sidewalk 

 Parking lot 

 Property Boundary 

            N 

Photo Map—Not to Scale 

 

11 unit one-room with private kitchen & bath 

Paved parking lot 

sidewalk 

4 2 

1, 3 

6 

24 

5 

23 



United States Department of the Interior                                                                                       National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10‑900                                                    OMB No. 1024‑0018  
       

 
Name of Property              County and State 
 

Evergreen Court Apartments   Shawnee County, Kansas 

 30 

Key 

 Solid Wall 

  Windows 

   Door Openings 

 

Individual Unit Sketch Map 

— Not to scale 

      N 

P
an

try 

Appliances 

Kitchen Bedroom 

Bathroom 

Living/Dining Room 

Closet 

10 

21 

20 
19 

18 
15 

17 
16 

14 

13 

12 

8 

9 

11 


	1 Jan 14 Agenda (2021)
	Untitled

	LC Minutes 10-8-2020
	CoA Review Report_Menninger Tower demo
	CERTIFIED LOCAL GOVERNMENT
	CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS
	REVIEW REPORT
	Topeka Planning Department


	Letter from GSE&P re Menninger Tower
	Shawnee_SecurityBenefitAssociationHospitalBuildingNR
	KS_ShawneeCounty_MidCenturyMPDF_ParkPlazaApartments_draft 2 (1)
	Park Plaza Apartments
	KHRI #177-4847
	Mid-Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka: 1945-1975
	1275 SW Fillmore Street
	Topeka
	Shawnee
	DOMESTIC: Multiple Dwelling
	DOMESTIC: Multiple Dwelling
	CONCRETE
	Built-Up Gravel
	Jaime L. Destefano, MSHP
	PO Box 445
	Fentress
	TX 
	Park Plaza Apartments, Inc.; Jane Nichols Representative
	701 SW Gage Blvd.
	Topeka
	Kansas

	KS
	 Kansas
	Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

	KS_ShawneeCounty_MidCenturyMPDF_HTKArchitectsOfficeBuilding_draft 2 (1)
	HTK Architects Office Building
	Golden Rule Remodeling; KHRI #177-4822
	Mid-Century Modern Non, Single-Family Residential Architecture in Topeka: 1945-1975
	2900 SW MacVicar Avenue
	Topeka
	Shawnee
	COMMERCE/TRADE: professional
	COMMERCE/TRADE: professional
	CONCRETE
	ASPHALT
	Jaime L. Destefano, MSHP
	PO Box 445
	Fentress
	TX 
	Matt Vicent, Golden Rule Remodeling
	2900 SW MacVicar Avenue
	Topeka
	Kansas

	KS
	 Kansas
	Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

	ShawneeCounty_EvergreenCourtApartments_HSBRdraft (1)
	ShawneeCounty_EvergreenCourtApartments_draft_4.pdf
	Evergreen Court Apartments
	Limerick Rowhouses; KHRI #177-3175
	NA
	3311-3321 SW 10th Ave
	Topeka
	Shawnee
	DOMESTIC: multiple dwelling
	DOMESTIC: multiple dwelling
	CONCRETE
	SYNTHETIC (RUBBER)
	Mr. David Swindell (edits by KS-SHPO)
	932 SW Oakley Ave.
	Topeka
	 Kansas
	Don Hanrahan
	5530 SW West DR
	Topeka
	KS

	KS
	 Kansas
	Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

	continuation_pages_photos_maps.pdf
	continuation_pages_photos_maps.pdf
	sketch maps.pdf


	Blank Page
	Blank Page



